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Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong
2nd Floor, Wah Kit Commercial Centre

302 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

Registered Office
Ugland House
South Church Street
P.O. Box 309
George Town

Grand Cayman
Cayman lIslands
British West Indies

Cayman Islands Principal Registrar

BANK OF BUTTERFIELD
INTERNATIONAL (CAYMAN) LTD.

Butterfield House

P.O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman lIslands

British West Indies

Hong Kong Branch Registrar
STANDARD REGISTRARS LIMITED
26th Floor

Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(In HK$000) (UEETFTARE ) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
OPERATING RESULT EEMR
Turnover EEXE 207,979 77,216 58,175 74,185 50,790
Net profit attributable to equity ARAERRFAEA

holders of the Company JE 155 & Rl 213,603 155,296 83,488 38,144 13,123
Earnings per share - Basic Bt -EX HK% T HKH& T HKA& T HKH#& T HKH#& T

16.9 centsfli 12.5 centsfll 7.3 centsfll 3.4 centsflll 1.2 centsll

FINANCIAL POSITION B AR
Total assets EEBE 1,440,077 1,093,931 751,135 486,050 520,787
Net assets EETE 773,997 565,839 398,933 174,110 141,342
Total liabilities BESE 666,080 528,092 352,202 311,940 379,445

SEGMENT INFORMATION PEER

- REVENUE -A
Broking ai 29,348 15,433 16,143 19,362 11,392
Financing b 55,957 53,883 38,027 38,591 30,414
Corporate finance CERE 5,812 2216 1,295 13,799 6,083
Assets management BEER 2,977 2,565 2,463 2,433 2,901
Property investment MERE 3,724 3,119 247 - -
Precious metal trading E2BEE 110,161 - - - -
Investment holding REER - - - - -

- OPERATING PROFIT -EERA

Broking g 10,278 4,631 4,900 9,688 3,421
Financing B 41,570 40,054 31,418 34,193 24,108
Corporate finance CERE 5,738 1,498 463 12,290 4,150
Assets management BEER 2,852 1,774 884 952 492
Property investment MERE 949 637 165 - -
Precious metal trading E2EBEE 1,512 - - - -
Investment holding REEK - (1) - - -
I(JP%E%T %GO‘%P F&LI,LI:\/“%E? ANNUAL REPORT 2007 & #f



On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Upbest Group Limited
(the “Company”) together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |
have pleasure to present to you the annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2007.

Results

The Group recorded a net profit for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company of HK$213,603,000, an increase of 37.55% compared
with 2006 profit of HK$155,296,000. Earnings per share were HK16.9
cents (2006: HK12.5 cents).

Dividends and distribution
The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK3.2 cents (2006: HK2.8 cents) per ordinary share for the year.

The Company also proposes that a scrip dividend election will be offered
to shareholders with Hong Kong address. Subject to the approval of
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the proposed
final dividend is expected to be paid on 2nd November, 2007. CCAA
Group Limited, the substantial shareholder with 70.28% interest of the
Company, has committed to elect to receive the final dividend in the form
of scrip.

Closure of Registers of Members

The registers of members of the Company will be closed from 6th August,
2007 to 10th August, 2007, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered.

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Share Registrars in Hong Kong, Standard Registrars
Limited, at 26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:00 p.m. on 3rd August, 2007.

Business review

During the year under review, the Hang Seng Index rose by 25.28%. With
strong liquidity inflows, average daily market turnover was HK$49.5 billion,
an increase of 57.52% over 2006 same period. At the end of year 2006,
Hong Kong ranked third by total equity fund raised, second by new listings’
funds raised and sixth by market capitalization, among members of the
World Federation of Exchanges. With the impressive market development,
the Group had achieved a remarkable result this year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2007, the Group recorded a net profit of
HK$214,573,000 (2006: HK$155,289,000). Profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company amounted to HK$213,603,000 (2006:
HK$155,296,000). Earnings per share were HK16.9 cents (2006: HK12.5
cents), a 35.2% increase. Turnover increased 169.34% from 2006 of
HK$77,216,000 to HK$207,979,000 this year. The increase in turnover
was principally caused by two major factors. The first was an increase in
existing business turnover from HK$77,216,000 to HK$97,818,000, a
26.68% increase. The other factor was the commencement of precious
metal trading, which contributed HK$110,161,000 to the Group’s turnover.
The significant improvement in profit from ordinary course of business
resulted from the concerted efforts of the Group to diversify successfully
into the Macau property market and to expand horizontally in the financial
services sector including precious metal business.

Financing

Turnover within the money lending business and margin financing activities
increased by approximately 3.85% to HK$55,957,000 (2006:
HK$53,883,000). This division attribute HK$41,570,000 profit (2006:
HK$40,054,000) to the Group, an increased of around 3.78% when
compared with last year.

Securities and Commodities Brokerage

The buoyant conditions in the stock market were reflected in a substantial
increase in our brokerage division performance. Turnover and profit
attributable to the Group had significantly improved to HK$29,348,000
(2006: HK$15,433,000) and HK$10,278,000 (2006: HK$4,631,000)
respectively. When compared with last year corresponding period, turnover
and profit attributable to the Group increased by 90.16% and 121.94%
respectively.

Corporate Finance

Our corporate finance division turnover increased from HK$2,216,000 to
HK$5,812,000, representing a 162.27% increase. This division recorded
an attributable profit of HK$5,738,000 for the year under review, an
increase of 283.04%. This division will continue to focus on different
types of financial advisory, placing and IPO projects.

R-ZEE+F=ZA=+—HLLFE £&£H
518 F % 71 214,573,000 L (ZTE X F ¢
155,289,000/ 7T) « AR A H AEGLE
@ 5 213,603,000 T (Z T N &F
155,296,000 70) - BRIEFI16. 98 (ZEF
NE 1255 M) » EFA35.2% c BEER T
T NFE 77,216,000 TN E S FH
207,979,000/ 7T © F18/5169.34% ° L5 2
FATEERMAREZ  BLRBERZEE
%8/5M77,216,0007% 7T £ F £97,818,000/8 7T
FFH2668% - EX HEECEEEEL A
REBEHRA10,161,0008 T2 S55H - RHE
BEf e BERERBBASERINEREMNY
EMBRERNRRESRREEYR  BIEE2E
ES// i

B #%
EERMENE ﬁﬁ@%%zﬁﬁﬁﬁi“ﬂus%%i
55,957,000/ T (ZEZ ;N F : 53,883,000/%

L) B EE41,570,0008 THEM (ZFF
SN 1 40,054,00087T) THRE - HELEFEM

#)3.78% °
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115 %EEE’\JHX%W%'I R R T 1P 9 48 42 BB
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EWEE20348,0008 L (Z T TN F ¢

15,433,000%% 7T) 5 10,278,000/ 7T (ZZE T X
F:4,631,00087T) - HL LFERBDRLE
F£90.16% 12 121.94% o

TERE
PEREN 2L EREH2,216,0008 T MNE
5,812,000/ 70 + KK 162.27% 2 FHiE - K& H
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Assets Management

The Group maintained as the investment manager of two companies
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange under Chapter 21
(Investment Companies) of the Listing Rules. The net asset value for
these two companies increased over 37.63% when compared with
corresponding year. This division maintains a stable turnover under the
client selection approach implemented since last year. The approach proves
to be successful and effective by recording an improvement in profit of
60.77% to HK$2,852,000. This is in line with the Group’s defined policy
on focusing on managing asset at a fee on assets value basis going
forward.

Property Investment
For the year ended 31st March, 2007, the rental income amounted to
HK$3,724,000, a 19.40% increase when compared with last year’s
corresponding period. This division attributable profit increased over
48.98% to HK$949,000.

Precious Metal Trading

In April 2006, the Group has commenced precious metal business through
a 75% owned subsidiary. This subsidiary provides one stop precious
metal service including physical trading, industrial product trading and
financing by collaborating with major players in the market such as Johnson
Matthey, The Standard Bank, Wing Hang Bank, Bank of China and Mitsui
Bussan etc. It is not usual for a business to contribute profit during the
inception stage, however, this subsidiary had a successful start. This
segment recorded a turnover and profit of HK$110,161,000 and
HK$1,512,000 respectively.

Prospect

In 2005, the Group had acquired Chino Plaza (the “Plaza”) in Macau
Peninsula which contributed a gross rental income of approximately
HK$3,724,000. The Management have re-organised the tenants portfolio
and is successfully introducing a well-known supermarket and American
fast food chain store to be located in the Plaza this year. The new comers
will enhance the Plaza’s image and customers flow which in turn increase
our bargaining powers on rental negotiation. It is expected that the gross
rental income will be increased satisfactory after the tenants’ portfolio re-
organisation is completed.

In the meanwhile, our other investments on properties development in
Macau are progressing satisfactory. The continuing rapid growth of Macau
economy has stimulated the increasing demand and price of both
residential flats and commercial shops. The management believes the
projects will bring good profits to the Group in future years.

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 &

E B B &
CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EEER
AEBEAMRBELMAUE21E(RERQF)
RERFERLEM ARG ZERERLE o i/
RRAZEEBEY L EAFREBLEABY
3763%°c FFEERRBERE A2 M
BREZEERE - mrERe60.77%iE2,852,000
BILERRETERNBERR - LBFA %l
MEETEEREEERBNEBR 2B

MERE
BE-_ST+FE=A=1+-BLSEHSE
3,724,000 TS WA - St EFREE ML
19.40% ° A&7 & Bl ia §1949,000% 7 + 5 in
48.98% ©

Eé%i‘é%
CEERFHASEEBEATSRER B
RAFRESCBEEER -ZMBARHEE
MEL2EENTEEYE FEET  XFTR
17~ B IR F A K Mitsui Bussanig i — X &4
BREEEES  ILXEREBEREE - ¥ —
EAFNEBME - TUHRBEEHEEER
BAEBER  BAULAURZMNBARE K
WRAE ABrEEERRMNDAHE
110,161,000/ 7T } 1,512,000 7T °

Etﬂ

R-ZEZREEEAANRMLEBAENES
([EH]) - ’%t)zfrﬂﬁuw\s,724,ooo;%7‘c o BB
BREIEABFESERNNFRSIA—FE
ZBEMBREAREEHE - HHEFBRESD
ESFERBERELMRERARFZEED -
BHEABEFAATNRE A2 RABAED
EFH -

RAEEMRFANEERRELERRE  BRFE
BRESEERMNIEETRBRETERRE
BLEf EREMEEBEESRETRAER
B -




E B B &
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The listed securities turnover has reached a record high in Hong Kong
due to the IPO of several famous Chinese banks and corporations during
the year. The turnover and contribution from brokerage and margin
financing are expected to grow steadily as the market is forecasted to be
active due to the QDII funds inflow from Mainland China in the coming
months.

Financial review

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st March, 2007, the Group had cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$140 million (2006: HK$112 million) of which
approximately HK$70 million (2006: HK$65 million) were pledged to bank
for facilities granted to the Group. The Company has given guarantees to
the extent of HK$368 million (2006: HK$337 million) to secure the general
banking facilities granted to subsidiaries.

As at 31st March, 2007, the Group had available aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$378 million (2006: HK$343 million) of which
approximately HK$212 million (2006: HK$242 million) was not utilised.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31st March, 2007, the amount of total borrowings was approximately
HK$493 million (2006: HK$278 million). The gearing (net interest bearing
debts) being equal to approximately 47.16% (2006: 26.50%) of the net
assets of approximately HK$774 million (2006: HK$566 million).

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

During the year, the Group mainly uses Hong Kong dollars and United
States dollars to carry out its business transactions. The Board considers
the foreign currency exposure is insignificant.

Employment
Employees’ remuneration are fixed and determined with reference to the
market remuneration.

Share Option
The Company does not have share option scheme.

Credit Control
The Group has been practicing tight credit control policy. A credit
committee composed of three executive directors is responsible for
overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily operation of money lending
will be guided by the stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal
control manual.

ARNZEAMARBITRERRELT &5
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Appreciation

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express our appreciation
to the continued dedication of the management, staff and to all
shareholders, customers and banker for their support of our Group.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16th July, 2007
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Non-Executive Director and Chairman

Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter (BBS, JP), aged 61, was appointed as
the non-executive director and chairman of the Company. He earned his
first two degrees from the University of Hong Kong and his final doctorate
from Queen’s University, Canada in the field of Civil Engineering. He has
managed companies involved in engineering services, construction, real
estate, industrial manufacturing and China trade. He is actively involved
in public service as member of the Town Planning Board, Arts Development
Council, Institution for Promotion of Chinese Culture and the Macau Open
University. He is also currently a member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Dr. Wong ceased to be the independent non-
executive director of China Rich Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1191).

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas, aged 56, is an executive director of
the Group. He is responsible for the business development of the Group.
Mr. Wong received his master’s degree in Accounting Science from the
University of lllinois, USA and master’'s degree in Commerce from the
University of New South Wales, Australia. He is a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia as
well as a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia.
He is the founding CEO and executive director of the Hong Kong Financial
Service Institute. Prior to the appointment, Mr. Wong was the founding
chief executive of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and the director of
Education and Training of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants.
Academically, he was the head of the Department of Accounting and Law
at the Hong Kong Baptist University and a professor of Accounting at
Griffith University in Australia. Furthermore, Mr. Wong serves on a number
of advisory and validation committee of tertiary institutions and several
committees of the Hong Kong SAR government and the Community Chest.
He is now the deputy director of School of Professional Education and
Executive Education and head of Hong Kong CyberU, the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Prior to the above appointment, he was director of
China Program Development and the Adjunct Associate Professor of
Accounting of the Hong Kong University of Science of Technology.

Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, aged 60, is an executive director and
managing director of the Group. He is also the founder of the Group. He
is responsible for overseeing the daily operation of the Group. Mr. Cheng
is a full member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and has professional
qualifications in both accounting and marketing. He has been engaged in
the investment advisory, securities business and property investment and
development for over twenty years. At present, Mr. Cheng is an investment
adviser and a dealer registered under the Securities Ordinance and a
commodities dealer registered under the Commodities Trading Ordinance
and is a deemed responsible officer under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance.
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Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen, aged 49, is an executive director and
deputy managing director of the Company. He is responsible for overseeing
the compliance and daily operations of the Company. Mr. Suen received
his Bachelor Degree in Social Science from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He also received his Master degree in Accountancy from the
Charles Sturt University. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, Australian Society of CPA and Hong Kong
Securities Institute. Prior to joining the Company, he had served with the
Securities and Futures Commission for almost 18 years and was a Director
of Enforcement since 1999. During the past three years, Mr. Suen has not
held directorship in any listed public companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George, aged 46, is an executive director and the
company secretary of the Company. Mr. Li has joined the Group since
1996 and is responsible for business development and marketing of the
Group. He has been a dealing director of Upbest Securities Company
Limited since 1st May, 2000. He holds a master’s degree in international
marketing from the University of Strathclyde in Glasgow, Scotland, United
Kingdom and is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He had worked as a senior manager of the
compliance division (currently known as regulation division) of the Stock
Exchange for seven years before joining the investment advisory and
securities industry in 1995. Mr. Li had also served with an international
audit firm for five years. Mr. Li is an investment adviser and a dealer
registered under the Securities Ordinance and is a deemed responsible
officer under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. He is also an executive
director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 768).

Ms. Cheng Wai Ling Annie, aged 28, is an executive director. She is
responsible for overseeing the daily operations of the Company. Ms. Cheng
received her bachelor degree in Business Administration (Accounting and
Finance) from the University of Hong Kong and is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
she had served with an international audit firm.

Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew, aged 34, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He obtained his bachelor’s degree from the California State
University, USA. He has over eight years’ experience in securities, corporate
finance and direct investment. He is also a manager of Upbest Securities
Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and an
executive director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 768).
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David, age 49, is an independent non-executive
director. Mr. Wong is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, and a Certified Public Accountant. He has over 27 years of
experience in finance, accounting, corporate and taxation affairs. Mr. Wong
is an independent non-executive director of Yugang International Limited
(Stock Code: 613), Y. T. Realty Group Limited (Stock Code: 075), Cross-
Harbour (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 032), UBA Investments Limited
(Stock Code: 768), and CC Land Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1224), a
non-executive director of Tonic Industries Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
978), and executive director of EganaGoldpfeil (Holdings) Limited (Stock
Code: 048) and Incutech Investments Limited (Stock Code: 356).

Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, aged 52, is an independent non-executive
director. Prior to November 2001, Mr. Pang worked as a senior director in
the Enforcement Division of the Securities and Futures Commission of
Hong Kong. From November 2001 to February 2003, he served as a
Commissioner in the Strategy & Development Committee of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission. He is now running his own consultancy
company. Professionally, he is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He is also an associate member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants and Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators.

Mr. Fuk Ho Kai, aged 33, is an independent non-executive director. He
has over 7 years experience in the field of IT & management consulting.
Mr. Fuk obtained a Bachelor degree from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is currently the management of a mainland IT & management
consulting firm.

Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy, aged 50, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Ng has over 23 years’ experience in the
fields of finance, accounting, taxation and corporate governance. He is
currently a Teaching Fellow of the Faculty of Business Administration of
the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong and CPA Australia. Mr. Ng is also an independent non-
executive director of EganaGoldpfeil (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 048)
and Incutech Investments Limited (Stock Code: 356). He ceased to be an
independent non-executive director of Egana Jewellery & Pearls Limited
which was privatized in November 2006.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) has pleasure in presenting its report
and the audited financial statements of Upbest Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year
ended 31st March, 2007.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Company was investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in securities broking, futures broking,
securities margin financing, money lending, corporate finance advisory,
assets management. In the recent year, the business was further diversified
to precious metal trading and property investment.

Segment information
Details of segment information by principal businesses and geographical
locations are set out in note (5) to the financial statements.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2007 are set out in
note (16) to the financial statements.

Results
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2007 are set out
in the consolidated income statement on page 34.

Dividends

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK3.2 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 3rd
August, 2007. The Company also proposes that a scrip dividend election
will be offered to shareholders with Hong Kong address.

Share capital

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note
30 to the financial statements.
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Financial summary B E

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for AT AREBRBEAMMREEZ 2 £ENE
the last five financial years is set out below. This summary is not part of EREBEZME - KBV ELERHBRE
the audited financial statements. ZE e

RESULTS EF¥

Year ended 31st March
BE=R=1t-HALHFE

(In HK$'000) (UBEFrAEL) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Turnover E S 207,979 77,216 58,175 74,185 50,790
Profit before taxation B 5 A1 & A 225,420 167,013 90,039 46,441 16,005
Taxation 18 (10,847)  (11,724) (6,551) (8,297) (2,882)
Net profit for the year AFEEARRAEE
attributable to equity BB ANELF R
holders of the Company 213,603 155,296 83,488 38,144 13,128
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
31st March
=ZR=+—H
(In HK$000) (BB FTAEN) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Total assets EEBE 1,440,077 1,093,931 751,135 486,050 520,787
Total liabilities aERaE (666,080) (528,092) (352,202) (311,940) (379,445)
Net assets EESFE 773,997 565,839 398,933 174,110 141,342
EST our LIMITE? ANNUAL REPORT 2007 £ #



Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note (31) to the financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium, contributed surplus, retained profits and proposed final dividend
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The share premium of
the Company is available for paying dividends to shareholders subject to
the provisions of its Memorandum and Articles of Association and provided
that immediately following the distribution of dividend the Company is
able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends can
be distributed out of the share premium, contributed surplus, retained
profits and proposed final dividend of the Company which in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$305,553,000 as at 31st March, 2007.

Donation
Donation made by the Group during the year for charitable purposes
amounted to HK$12,000.

Property, plant and equipment and investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31st March 2007,
resulting in a fair value gain amounting to HK$162,977,000 which has
been recognised in the income statement.

Details of these and other movements during the year in the property,
plant and equipment and investment properties are set out in notes (13)
and (14) to the financial statements, respectively.

Borrowings

Bank overdrafts and other borrowings repayable within one year or on
demand are classified as current liabilities. A repayment analysis of bank
borrowings is set out in note (27) to the financial statements. No interest
was capitalised by the Group during the year.

Major clients

For the year ended 31st March, 2007, the Group’s five largest clients
accounted for in aggregate approximately 43% (2006: 20%) of the Group’s
turnover, of which the largest client accounted for approximately 15%
(2006: 7%) of the Group’s turnover.

None of the directors or any of their associates or any shareholder of the
Company which to the knowledge of the directors of the Company owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital have an interest in
the Group’s five largest clients.
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Repurchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
For the year ended 31st March, 2007, other than as an agent for clients
of the Company or its subsidiaries, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter (Chairman)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas

Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles

Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen (Appointed on 3rd April, 2007)
Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George

Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie (Appointed on 13th July, 2006)
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew (Appointed on 16th July, 2007)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David

Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex

Mr. Fuk Ho Kai

Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy (Appointed on 16th July, 2007)

In accordance with Articles 116 and 119 of the Company’s Articles of
Association Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen, Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George,
Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew, Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David and Mr. Ng
Yick Man, Andy shall retire by rotation from office and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each of the independent non-executive directors
lasts until his retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s Articles
of Association.

The Company received confirmation of independence in respect of the
year ended 31st March, 2007 from each of the independent non-executive
directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Revised Listing Rules. Up to and
as at the date of this report, the Company still considers the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

Directors’ service contracts

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions EERFETHAEREARANEMEPE A

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the ARG HERORESFZEZRKE
Company or any associated corporation

As at 31st March, 2007, the interests and short positions of the directors RZZEZE+E=A=+—H AR AZESEH
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and ~ SHITHEABR AR A S MEEEE (F& R
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within % REIEEHIEXY) 25 - BERGO REH

the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to EPT?EET’;‘JZ’PEA kg - ARBESHFREE
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Bl EXVEFE 7R 8D S /A &€ A2 & KB X FT
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are ~ BI#2 (BEREE S RO E KB BIEZE
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which are  #WEERE AR ENERERAR)  HABREE
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register % & HEEHIFE352(6 BB N Z M E T EF

referred to therein, or which are required, pursuant to the Model Code for  fit * SHZERBE(ET AR EZETESFR HMIEZ
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to ~ %E5F8I) 7 IR E & A& A & K BEZ B

the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Number of shares

B!
Personal Family
interests interests Percentage
(held as (interest  Corporate Other of issued
Name of director beneficial owner)  of spouse) interests interests Total share capital
HAER FBER BRORE
EEh? (BEREBA) (BEER) EEER At ek Bk
Ordinary Shares of HK$0.01 each  AAAEREE0ETZ
in the Company EBR
Cheng Kai Ming, Charles (Note) 2R (i) - - 895,634,229 - 895,634,229 70.28%
Cheng Wai Ling, Annie (Note) &R (i) - - 895,634,229 - 895,634,229 70.28%
Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew (Note) B () - - 895,634,229 - 895,634,209 70.28%
Note: As at the Latest Practicable Date, CCAA Group Limited (“CCAA”), an  Mfst : REEATEE  AEEZHEEER(EER
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) of the & a‘% Ko A& & ) %5 XVEE)CCAA  Group
Company, was directly interested in 895,634,229 Shares in, representing Limited ([CCAA]) B # % 5 895,634,229k fix
approximately 70.28% of, the issued share capital of the Company. Mr. 7 BUERRFIBBEITIRA 270.28% © EBRK
Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie, Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Bk BERN BEREERERA
Andrew and their family members are the beneficiaries of the trust which BfEEzX@mA  MEEBRECCAABER r—-
assets include interests in the entire issued share capital of CCAA and IlRA - Bt REBHARBERN - BF
accordingly, they are deemed to be interested in 895,634,229 Shares and WA A A 895,634,220/ ik 13 L CCAAFT A -
the entire issued share capital of CCAA under the SFO. BEITIRA -

At no time during the period was the Company, its subsidiaries or its AR A ~ R B QB LB 2 QB HENSARN
associated companies a party to any arrangements to enable the directors TR FE 2 EIER T ML H © FARABEENR
or executives of the Company (including their spouse and children under  THAE (BHEEFEE+N\HEA N F&) o
18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition in shares BAAQBHEB L AR 2 RELEH ML P
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations. B o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2007, none of the directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which are
required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures

At no time during the year was the Company, its ultimate holding company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors
or chief executives of the Company or their respective spouse or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

Substantial shareholder’s interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of the Company

As at 31st March, 2007, the following persons or corporations, interest in
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company have
been notified to the Company and recorded in the register of substantial
shareholders’ interests in shares and short positions required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

Name of shareholders

Number of shares held

REXPHWEEN R_FTTLF=A=1—
A BEARTEEASRITRABRARF
FEAHEEEE (TR R(EFRAERIDFE
XVER) 2 Bt ~ HERO REFTHREAEAER
FRE - ARB(EFRAE R EXVEBHETR
8D MAEARR RBRFT (BERE(ES LY
ERIDBBIEXREFRRARES 2 #am KR
B)  HARB(EF KA RD) F 35217 R E
SN GBI 2 &2 Mt - RARB(LET AT
ERETEFRINBRETAD ZATHEARLD
AR -

EEZRERDAES 2EF

EERBEA > ARR - KRR ZERRAFK
EMBARMELREEARRESTHERT
BABSBEZRBIFRETN\RATZTF
TAHZBARRASEMEMAEABE R
DREHEF(BRES) MESMNEZEM%R
7

FERERADRAZRORBEARD 2 &R
158783

RZZEZEF=A=1+—H TIALTIEHE
REEARARRMN RARBR D E@5% A £ 2’7
BERARMAEAAR  TAREES LS
BIEPIEXVEEIBHBELBEREERFTERL
i -

Percentage of
total number of
shares in issued

BREZRE FrsERBREEE HEBRITRHBE DL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each RARBREMBOIEBLZ

in the Company EER
CCAA (Note) CCAA (i1 &) 895,634,229 70.28%

Note: Identical to those disclosed above as “Directors’ and chief executives’
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation”.

fireax : BEXBBEZIEERITHABRARARE
AEERNE B - AERD RESF 2 ES
LxkE AR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 %



Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2007, the Directors are not
aware of any other persons who have interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which would be required to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Connected transactions and directors’ interests in contracts
Details of any significant connected and related party transaction entered
by the Group during the year ended 31st March, 2007 which also constitute
connected transactions under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) are
set out in note (33) to the financial statements under the section heading
of “Connected and related party disclosures”.

The Board considers the connected transactions as disclosed in note
(83) have been conducted in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group on normal commercial terms and did not exceed the cap
amount as prescribed in the waiver granted by the Stock Exchange.
These connected transactions had been reviewed by the independent
non-executive directors and the auditors of the Company and received
approval from the Company’s board of directors.

Save as disclosed in note (33) to the financial statements, no other
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company, its ultimate holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which any director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

Management contracts
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders
under the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the
Companies Laws of the Cayman Islands.
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Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee according to “A Guide
for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The primary duties of the audit
committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process
and internal control system of the Group.

The audit committee of the Group consists of three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David, Mr. Pang Cheung
Hing, Alex and Mr. Fuk Ho Kai. The audit committee had reviewed with
management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31st March, 2007. The Audit Committee had also reviewed
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2007 in
conjunction with the Company’s external auditors.

Code on corporate governance practices

The Listing Rules have recently been amended by the Stock Exchange by
replacing the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 by a new Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (“Code”) and adding a new Appendix 23
on the requirements for a Corporate Governance Report to be included in
annual reports of Listed Issuers. Subject to certain transitional
arrangements, the amendments took effect on 1st January, 2005.

The Company has complied with the Code throughout the year ended
31st March, 2007, with deviations from code provisions A.4.1 of the
Code only in respect of the service term of directors.

None of the existing non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company is appointed for a specific term. This
constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1 of the Code. However,
all the directors of the Company are subject to the retirement provisions
under article 116 of the Articles of Association of the Company. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting
than those in the Code.

Model code for securities transactions by directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors by Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules. Upon enquiry by the Company, all Directors of the
Company have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

EREES
ANFERBEEGHMRAGREZ [RIER
ZEQESIINUERZES  HXIZERERE
B B RN B 2 A TS BB AR P K P BB B 42
o

AEBZERZEQRR-UBIFNTE

%’”%%Eﬁﬁ%i TREKLEREEE
Kt ERZECCHAEEAERISARE

%%mzaﬁﬁ &Em'ﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁ‘mﬂ
ERELUBRREE  ETEREEHAEEER

ECTRTAF-AC-+ - HUEFEZERRY
BHRE - BRZBENCHAARBZINER
YMEMNAREREZE _TTLF=A=1t—H
LEFEEZEERE -

TEERERTE

RO BITLTHRY  ERaEURE
EEREMT([FR)) R 147 HERE
AR UEMABBLETWETAFTREAEHNS

ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ¢ZﬁEZ%Wﬁ%c%¢ﬂ%$
BELZHE  BIER-_ZETAF—A—A4&
B o

BEBEZEZREFHEEREET AT A&
XEA4MEIN  ARAERBE-_TTLF=
A=t—BUh2F—BEETTR -

ARARBZHFATES (BRBUIFRTE
B)UEREEH  WREETR 2 TRIGRXSE
A4l AT ARAZBEZAETALA
ARERANE6HRZBRERT - Bt - AR
ARRERBRENER  NERARR ZEE
ERBHRTERTRIMEE -

ERETRSRGZBETY
ARACHRM LT RAMERI0PTE LR ETA
ERENESFRHIBETRI(RESTAL) -
BARBE#E  AARAEBEFHER  KF
REAN-—BEBREETAMBZEERT -

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 %



Sufficiency of public float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, the percentage of the
Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public is not less than
25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares.

Auditors
Messrs. Chu and Chu resigned as auditors of the Company on 15th May,
2006 while Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. were appointed by the Board to

fill the casual vacancy.

Apart from the foregoing, there were no other changes in auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

Messrs. Li, Tang, Chen & Co. retire and, being eligible, offer themselves

for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Li Kwok Cheung, George

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 16th July, 2007
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Corporate governance

The Board of Directors of the Upbest Group Limited (the “Company”) (the
“Board”) is committed to maintain high standards of corporate governance
practices, in which are crucial to the smooth, effective and transparent
operation of the Company and its ability to attract investment, protect
rights of shareholders and stakeholders, and enhance shareholder value.
In November 2004, the Stock Exchange introduced the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (“the Code”) in replacement and enhancement of
the Code of Best Practice in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”). The Code has become effective from 1st January, 2005 and the
Group has followed the Code provisions throughout the period.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2007, the Company has complied
with the Code with exception. Code provision A.4.1 provides that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. None of the non-executive directors has entered or proposed to
enter into any service contracts with the Company or its subsidiaries.
Accordingly, the non-executive directors have no set term of office but
they are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
As such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to serve the purpose of the Code provision A.4.1.

Throughout the financial year, the Company has consistently adopted a
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions in accordance
with Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules and that directors of the Company
has complied with this code of conduct.

Corporate governance structure

With the assistance of the Compliance Department, the Board has
designed a proper corporate governance structure. Currently, there are
four board committees, including Audit Committee, Credit Committee,
Executive Committee and Remuneration Committee. Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance with
their respective terms of reference. Executive Committee assist the Group
to set up business strategy and planning, and Credit Committee oversees
the granting of credit facilities.
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Board Composition, Function and Practices

The Board comprises of the chairman (non-executive director), six
executive directors and four independent non-executive directors. Mr.
Wong King Keung, Peter acts as chairman (“Chairman”) and non-executive
of the Board, whereas Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles is the managing
director (“Managing Director”) and executive director of the Company. Mr.
Suen Man Tak, Stepten is the deputy managing director and executive
director. Other executive directors are Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas,
Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George, Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie and Mr. Cheng
Wai Lun, Andrew. There are four independent non-executive directors,
Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David, Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, Mr. Fuk Ho
Kai and Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy. Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David, Mr, Pang
Cheung Hing, Alex and Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy have appropriate
professional accounting experience and expertise. All directors are subject
to election by shareholders at the first General Meeting after their
appointment and are subject to retirement by rotation at lease once every
three years and eligible for re-election in accordance with the Company’s
Articles and Association and at least one-third of the Board is represented
by independent non-executive directors.

All directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and
have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. The biographical details of each director are disclosed in pages
10 to 12 of this Annual Report.

Each independent non-executive director has pursuant to the rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, confirmed that he is independent of the Company and
the Company also considers that they are independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) among members of the Board except that Mr. Cheng
Kai Ming, Charles is the father of Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie and Mr.
Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew.

The Board, headed by the Chairman, is responsible for formulation and
approval of the Group’s development and business strategies and policies,
approval of annual budgets and business plans, overseeing the Group’s
compliance with statutory and regulatory obligations, scrutinizing the
performance of the Group in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives, financial reporting and ensuring proper internal control, risk
management have been implemented, recommendation of dividend, and
supervision of management in accordance with the rules governing the
meeting of the Board, the managing director’s working guides, articles of
association and rules governing the meeting of shareholders.

The executive directors are responsible for day-to-day management of
the Company’s operations. These executive directors conduct regular
meetings with the senior management of the Company and its subsidiaries
and associated companies, at which operational issues and financial
performance are evaluated.
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Full Board meeting is held no less than four times a year. Apart from the
regular Board meetings, the Chairman shall hold meetings with the non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) without
the presence of executive directors at least once every year.

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and accompanying board
papers are sent in full to all directors in a timely manner and at least three
days before the intended date of a board or board committee meeting.
Adequate information related to the issues are also supplied for the board
and its committee to make decisions which is for the best interests of the
Group. Notice of at least fourteen days are given to all directors and all
directors have an opportunity to attend. The directors who cannot attend
in person might through other electronic means of communications to
participate.

During the financial year ended 31st March, 2007, the Board held 4
regular Board meetings at approximately quarterly interval and 3 irregular
Board meeting(s) which were convened when deemed necessary. Due
notice and Board papers were given to all directors prior to the meeting
in accordance with the Company’s articles of association and the Code.
Board and the respective Board meeting(s) held during the period and
attendance of the individual directors are as follows:

Name of directors

EERSR

Total number of meetings eEAY
Non-executive Director and Chairman FYTEERER
Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter BERRET
Managing Director EZHLR

Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles BRI EE
Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas HIFMAHE

Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George FERELE

Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie* BEr /A

Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHITES
Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David BEEREE
Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex YRELE
Mr. Fuk Ho Kai EEERE

*

Ms. Cheng was appointed as executive director on 13th July, 2006.

Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen, Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew and Mr. Ng Yick
Man, Andy were appointed after the year end.
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LERR/ BHEZYE
Executive Audit Remuneration
Committee  Committee = Committee

Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
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7 11 2 1
5 NATER NATER NATER
7 11 NATER 1
7 5 NAATER NATER
7 11 NATEE NATEA
4 6 NATER NATER
7 NATER 2 1
7 NATER 2 1
7 NATER 2 1
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Independent Professional Advice

The Company has set up a procedure agreed by the Board for its directors
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
and at the Company’s expense to discharge their duties to the Company.

Chairman and Managing Director

The roles of the Chairman is separate from that of the Managing Director
and their responsibilities are clearly established. The Chairman and
Managing Director of the Company are Dr. Wong King Keung, Peter and
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles respectively. The Chairman is responsible
for providing leadership to the Board to ensure the Board will act in the
best interests of the Group.

The Managing Director will work with executive committee (including head
of each department) and other executive directors to manage the
businesses of the Group. The Managing Director is responsible for the
day-to-day management of the business of the Group, attends to
formulation and successful implementation of policies, and assumes full
accountability to the Board for all operations of the Group.

The number of independent non-executive directors is one third of the
Board membership. Two of the independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David and Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex
have the appropriate professional accounting experiences and expertise.
The Board membership is covered by professionally qualified and widely
experienced personnel so as to bringing in valuable contribution and
different professional advices and consultancy for the development of the
Company. Over one-half of the Board members have recognised
professional securities and accounting qualifications.

In the course of discharging their duties, the directors act in good faith,
with due diligence and care, and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. Their responsibilities include:

- Regular board meetings focusing on business strategy, operational
issues and financial performance.

- Active participation on the boards of subsidiaries and associated
companies.

- Approval of annual budgets for each operating company covering

strategy, financial and business performance, key risks and
opportunities.
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- Monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability of internal
and external reporting.

- Monitoring and managing potential conflicts of interest of
management, Board members and shareholders, including misuse
of corporate assets and abuse in related party transaction.

- Ensuring processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity of
the Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance with
all laws and ethics.

To enable the Company’s directors to meet their obligations, an appropriate
organizational structure is in place with clearly defined responsibilities
and limits of authority.

Board Committees

A number of Board Committees, including Audit Committee, Credit
Committee, Executive Committee and Remuneration Committee, have been
established by the Board to strengthen its functions and to enhance its
expertise. These committees have been formed with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with the committees authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee according to “A Guide
for the Formation of an Audit Committee” published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. In accordance with the
requirements of the Code, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee
was revised and approved on 18th July, 2005 to comply with the provisions
set out in the Code. The primary duties of the audit committee are to
review and supervise the financial reporting system and internal control
procedures, review of the relationship with the auditors and financial
information of the Group. The revised terms of reference, explaining its
role and the authority delegated to it by the Board are available for
inspection on request at the Company’s registered office.

The audit committee of the Company is composed of three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David, Mr. Pang
Cheung Hing, Alex and Mr. Fuk Ho Kai. It is chaired by Mr. Wong Wai
Kwong, David. It reports directly to the Board and reviews matters within
the scope of audit, such as financial statements and internal controls, to
protect the interests of the Company’s shareholders.
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The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external auditors
to discuss audit process and accounting issues, and reviews effectiveness
of internal controls and risk evaluation. Written terms of reference, which
describes the authority and duties of the Audit Committee and regularly
reviewed and updated by the Board.

Set out below is the summary of work done in financial year 2006/2007:—

- to review of the financial statements for the year ended 31st March
2006 and for the six months ended 30th September, 2006;

- to review of effectiveness of the internal control system;

- to review of auditors’ statutory audit plan and letters of
representation; and

- to consider and approve 2006 audit fees and audit work.

The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year. Details of individual
attendance of its members are set out in the table above.

Credit Committee

A credit committee composed of three executive directors responsible for
overseeing the granting of credit facilities. Daily operation of money lending
will be guided by the stringent procedures as prescribed by the internal
control manual. The Committee meets weekly and ad-hoc meetings will
be held when market and economic conditions changes significantly.

Executive Committee

The Committee is composed of the Group Managing Director, the CEO
and the heads of each departments of the Group. The Committee manages
the day-to-day business of the Group and meets regularly to resolve
problems, make decisions on business matters to achieve corporate goals
and objectives.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control of the Group. The directors shall conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the system of internal control of the Company and its
subsidiaries at least annually including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions with the assistance of compliance
department.
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The Group forms a well-established organisation structure and
comprehensive policies and standards. Duties of different departments
are clearly defined with operating policies and procedures, lines of
responsibility are delegated to the appropriate staff with different levels of
authorities and are segregated to ensure proper internal control and risk
management.

The Board is of the view that the system of internal controls in place for
the year under review and up to the date of issuance of the annual report
and financial statements is sound and is sufficient to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and employees, and the Group’s assets.

The key processes that have been established in reviewing the adequacy
and integrity of the system of internal controls include the following:

- The Executive Committee is established by the Board to ensure
the effectiveness of the daily operations and that the operations
are in accordance with the corporate objectives and strategies.

- The Audit Committee of the Company reviews internal control
issues identified by external auditors, regulatory authorities and
management, and evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

Policies and procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; maintenance of proper accounting
records for the use of reliable information within the business or external
publication, and compliance of relevant regulations, rules and legislations.
The policies and procedures are designed for providing reasonable but
not absolute assurance to avoid fraud, material misstatements or errors.

Finance

The Company’s assets were used in an appropriate manner, the
expenditures in each of the operating units of the Group were under a
strict control, expenditures exceeding certain predetermined amounts
needed management’s authorisation. Accounting records were properly
maintained.

Operation

A hierarchical system with proper work flow and reporting procedures
was duly established in each of the operating units. Every employee was
assigned with a specific area of duty and responsibility.

Regular meetings with the attendance of senior management and
representatives from each of the operating units were held during the
year so as to improve communication and identify potential issues within
the Group.
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Listing Rules Compliance

Throughout the year, the Group has fully complied with the Listing Rules
requirements. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have been
prepared and published in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

Summary Remarks

The Board is satisfied that the prevailing internal control system is
adequately in place, and has been implemented by the employees properly.
There revealed no significant areas of improvement which are required to
be addressed in the forthcoming period.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up on 18th July, 2005 and the
members comprised of independent non-executive directors, Mr. Wong
Wai Kwong, David, Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex, Mr. Fuk Ho Kai and
Managing Director, Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles. Mr. Wong Wai Kwong,
David is appointed as chairman of the Remuneration Committee. The
Committee shall meet not less than once every year.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been reviewed
with reference to the Corporate Governance Code.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to review
and consider the Company’s policy for remuneration of directors and
senior management, to determine remuneration packages of executive
directors and senior management including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, and to recommend to the Board
remuneration of non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration Committee
done in financial year 2006/2007:—

- to review of the remuneration policy for 2006/2007;

- to review of the remuneration of the executive directors, non-
executive director and the independent non-executive directors;
and

- to review of the annual share option policy.

The Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting during the financial year

ended 31st March, 2007. Details of individual attendance of its members
are set out in the table above.
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Nomination of Directors
Mr. Suen Man Tak, Stephen has been appointed as deputy managing
director and executive director with effective from 3rd April, 2007.

Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie has been appointed as an executive director
with effective from 13th July 2006.

Mr. Cheng Wai Lun, Andrew has been appointed as an executive director
with effective from 16th July 2007.

Mr. Ng Yick Man, Andy has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director with effective from 16th July 2007.

The Board has not established a nomination committee. Pursuant to the
articles of association of the Company, the Board has the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as director either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. In assessing nomination
of new directors, the Board has taken into consideration of the nominee’s
qualification, ability and potential contributions to the Company.

Model code for securities transactions by directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities
transactions by directors. All directors have confirmed, following specific
enquiry by the Company, that they fully complied with the Model Code
throughout the year.

The Company has also established written guidelines regarding securities
transaction on no less exacting terms of the Model Code for senior
management and specific individual who may have access to price
sensitive information in relation to the securities of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

External auditors

During the year and up to the date of this report, the remuneration paid
to the Group’s existing external auditors, Li, Tang, Chen & Co., are set
out as follows:

Services rendered

SNEE A% AT
FAREERARERY  ARECNRENE
REMEEREGAMEBMZMEHIIMT

for the Group Fees paid Fees payable
) 7 5 B iR it 2 FR % ENZER ENzEHR

HK$ HK$

BT BT
Audit services Fi R 300,000 369,000
Taxation services 7% R 15 14,600 20,000
Total FE 314,600 389,000
Going concern FERE

The Board, having made appropriate enquiries, considers that the
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Communication with shareholders

Communications between the Company and its shareholders can be
through several means. The shareholders can visit the Company’s website
at www.upbest.com to learn the general background of the Company
and its activities, which enable the general public to have a better
understanding of the Group. Extensive and detail information related to
the Group’s activities and financial data can be retrieved from the annual
report and interim report issued. In addition, the annual general meeting
provides an opportunity for direct communication between the Board and
the Company’s shareholders.

Directors’ responsibility in preparing the financial statements
The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
Financial Statements. The Statements of the Auditors about their reporting
responsibilities on the Financial Statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 32 to 33.

Corporate Governance Enhancement

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and
comlying with the Corporate Governance Code of the Stock Exchange
but about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate
culture. We will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve our
current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes and
developments. Any views and suggestions from our shareholders to
promote and improve our transparency are also welcome.

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 &
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B O & B O O® &
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

[ e e
LI, TANG, CHEN & CO.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

To the shareholders of
Upbest Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Upbest Group
Limited set out on pages 34 to 95, which comprise the consolidated and
company balance sheets as at 31st March, 2007, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the content of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31st
March, 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Li, Tang, Chen & Co.

Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
10/F Sun Hung Kai Centre

30 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

16th July, 2007
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE-_ZTT+HF-A=-1+—HLFE

Note
(In HK$’000) (VBB T BEN) By 3E 2007 2006
Turnover HEH 5(a) 207,979 77,216
Cost of goods sold $HE R A (106,996) -
Other revenue Hipl s 661 66
Excess of net fair value of consolidation WEMBRRMEESA
arising from acquisition of a subsidiary NEFEZZ LG 34 1,631 67,194
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WRRELHE
equipment FTEEZ &M 94 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary W B A R FTE & 2 A 35 - 18,100
Increase in fair value of investment BEMENTE 2N
properties 14 162,977 16,836
Net gain on financial assets at fair BRATEREERINEZ
value through profit or loss HBEE-FE 1,257 -
Bad debts recovered S qEp= - 18,484
Provision for doubtful debts RBIRE (3,037) (2,508)
Administrative and other operating THREMEERS
expenses (28,939) (19,486)
Finance costs BEKA 6 (10,402) (9,137)
Share of results of associates EMEE & DA EE 195 248
Profit before taxation B 3 A& A 7 225,420 167,013
Income tax expense FTi5Rif X 10(a) (10,847) (11,724)
Profit for the year AP 214,573 155,289
Attributable to: JEME & A
Equity holders of the Company KRAEEREA 213,603 165,206
Minority interests DERR RS 970 (7)
214,573 155,289
Dividends 1% 8 12 40,782 35,087
Earnings per share FER HK cents HK cents
AL B
Basic AR 9 16.9 12.5
Diluted E N/ATE R N/AT i A
EST G
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(In HK$'000)

(WERTTRENL)

Share
capital

R

Share Contributed

premium

Rt &E

surplus

B4E%

Proposed

Retained final
profits  dividend
RIEAH

REER k&

ai

Minority
interests

8
RREs

ai

Balance as at 31st March, 2005

Issue of shares

Profit for the year

Share of post-acquisition reserve

Dividend paid

Proposed final dividend

Balance as at 31st March, 2006

Issue of shares

Profit for the year

Share of post-acquisition reserve

Dividend paid

Proposed final dividend

R-ZERE=A=+-R&H

¥kt

RERARE

RZEEAFZA=+-HEH

¥kt

ERER

EhERBRER

EfRE

RERARE

Balance as at 31st March, 2007 W-ZEE+&=B=1-R%#

12,288

243

205,936

24,368

8,0

141,475

155,296

(30,719)

(35,087) 35,087

398,933

24,611

155,296

(30,719)

398,933

24,611

155,296

17,718

(30,719)

230,304

28,459

261,684 35,087

213,608

(35,087)

(40,782) 40,782

548,121

28,672

213,608

(35,087)

565,839

28,672

213,608

970

(35,087)

12,744

258,763

434,505 40,782

755,309

713,997
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31st March, 2007
R=ZZTZT+F=A=+—8H

Note
(In HK$°000) (LB FrrREf) By 3E 2007 2006
NON-CURRENT ASSETS *RBERE
Property, plant and equipment M WEREE 13 2,168 1,962
Investment properties wEME 14 350,000 187,000
Intangible assets BREE 15 2,040 2,040
Interests in associates N RN P 17 66,791 20,481
Available-for-sale financial assets AN EVBEE 18 137 1
Trade and other receivables, deposits 5 REMERFE -
and prepayments e RENHRIE 19 51,890 89,898
Other assets HEE 20 6,716 6,788
479,742 308,170
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for development HIEEEYE 21 83,307 71,000
Inventories & 22 13,747 =
Loan receivables EW S R 23 128,999 127,999
Trade and other receivables, deposits 85 REMERIE -
and prepayments e RENRE 19 522,191 469,130
Amounts due from related companies JIE U R 38 N R FUA 24 164 5,042
Financial assets at fair value BRAFERARER
through profit or loss PR 2 BB E 25 68,172 =
Tax recoverable ] Y B % 5K 2(m) 3,572 390
Bank balances and cash IRITEHRKRRE 26 140,183 112,000
960,335 785,761
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Borrowings CE 27 476,746 114,778
Amounts due to related parties FERTERE A T FIE 29 82,059 111,633
Creditors and accrued expenses JE TR 2 & B B 28 87,757 132,778
Provision for profits tax FiT 15 i 48 10(b) 2,943 5,803
649,505 364,992
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 310,830 420,769
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELBBRARBEE
LIABILITIES 790,572 728,939
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Borrowings a3 27 16,575 163,100
NET ASSETS EEFE 773,997 565,839
I(”;E%T %Gﬁﬂ‘“ﬂﬁ? I@LI,XI%ED) ANNUAL REPORT 2007 & #
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

As at 31st March, 2007
RZETZLF=A=+—H

Not
(In HK$’000) (LB FrrREf) ﬁg 2007 2006
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERK#E
Share capital Bz A 30 12,744 12,531
Reserves fFé 185 31 701,783 500,503
Proposed final dividend R R HR B 12 40,782 35,087
Equity attributable to equity holders AR EAEGLER
of the Company 755,309 548,121
Minority interests LERR R ES 18,688 17,718
TOTAL EQUITY BmAE 773,997 565,839

The financial statements on pages 34 to 95 were approved and authorised ~ H34EBEZ M BHREREFER T+

for issue by the board of directors on 16th July, 2007. FLATABHAERRERL KM MIESA
REE o
Cheng Kai Ming, Charles Li Kwok Cheung, George
BB EA ek s
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEE
ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3R }“;E;T %G‘)Uﬁ" F&LI,LI\‘\“%E?
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BALANCE SHEET

As at 31st March, 2007
RZET+F=A=+—H

Not
(In HK$’000) (LB TFTARERN) Mf Ee 2007 2006
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBDERE
Interest in subsidiaries RIB AR ZKE 16 318,778 284,285
CURRENT ASSETS nEBEE
Prepayment BRRIE 5 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRES 26 148 190
s 190
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accrued expenses [ & H 28 627 749
Amount due to a director [ E=HIE 29 7 7
e o6
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REAEFE (481) (566
NET ASSETS EERE 318,297 283,719
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARHB
Share capital g A 30 12,744 12,531
Reserves (& 185 31 264,771 236,101
Proposed final dividend Bk R HR S 40,782 35,087
318,297 283,719

The financial statements on pages 34 to 95 were approved and authorised

for issue by the board of directors on 16th July, 2007.

Cheng Kai Ming, Charles

BRI A

Executive Director

HITEF

FMEBAHBHREREZTEN _TTL
FLATARBRHERREELRATIESEK
REE -

Li Kwok Cheung, George
R H
Executive Director

HiTEE
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

HE-STLF=A=+—HLFR

Note

(In HK$'000) (WEEFTRERN) M 2007 2006
Cash flows from operating activities REXBEBER
Profit before taxation BR 7 A A 225,420 167,013
Adjustments for: BRTHSEELAR:

Interest expenses FE% 10,402 9,137

Depreciation E 631 541

Bad debts recovered B E IR - (18,484)

Provision for doubtful debts RERER 3,037 2,508

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment LENE  WERREME (94) -

Excess of net fair value of consolidation arising KERBARMES

from acquisition of a subsidiary RERTRFELZERN 34 (1,631) (67,194)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary LERBRARMEL 2 EF 35 - (18,100)

Increase in fair value of investment properties BEMEDTEZEM (162,977) (16,836)

Share of results of associates EUEBENRCEE (195) (248)
Operating profit before working capital changes RitEBESE B 2 e R 74,503 58,337
Increase in inventories FEzEM (13,747) -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables, ESREMEYURE  BER

deposits and prepayments BB (M) /R (41,457) 33,247
Increase in loan receivables ERER 2EM (1,000) (127,999)
(Increase)/decrease in trust and segregated EAREMPREREFPET

accounts included in bank balances (BERBTER) 2B /B (3,382) 814
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from ERBERAFEZRD /()

related companies 5,078 (2,695)
Increase in amounts due from associates B B i 1) A FUR 2 S (34,922) (20,193)
Decrease in amounts due to related parties ERBEEARREZRD (29,574) (40,811)
(Decrease)/increase in creditors and accrued expenses TR REFRER 2 (L) /M (55,597) 57,642
Cash used in operations RELBREAzES (100,008) (41,658)
Interest paid ENHE (10,402) (9,137)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BENEBHEH (16,889) (7,073)
Net cash used in operating activities ReLBERAZREFE (127,299) (57,868)
ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # %R I(JP£ ; %G%O%P KELI,LI\\\“%ED)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_TT+F-_A=+—HILEFE
Note
(In HK$000) (WEEFTREN) i 2007 2006
Cash flows from investing activities BEEHZzRER
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE BERZE (993) (277)
Purchase of investment properties BERENME (23) (164)
Purchase of properties held for development BERFERNE (307) (7,000)
Acquisition of a subsidiary WEMB AR (NRMKEZ
(net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) ReRBeEEW) 34 191 4,407
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets BEUHNENKEE (136) (1)
Increase in investment in associates RERE 228280 (11,193) -
Purchase of financial assets at fair BERLTE
value through profit or loss RERRIEZHEEE (68,172) -
Increase in pledged bank deposits BERRATREN (4,695) (2,172)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HENBARZHMERE 35 - 35,700
Proceeds from disposal of property, LENE  BERE
plant and equipment FERE 250 -
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables, BoRAMEKTE  BeR
deposits and prepayments BEREZEL/ (E0) 23,383 (89,445)
Decrease/(increase) in other assets EtEEZRD /(M) 72 (860)
Net cash used in investing activities REEHERZESTE (61,623) (59,812)
Cash flows from financing activities BEZHZRER
Dividend paid RS (35,087) (30,719)
Net proceeds from issue of shares Elkh 2 EHESE 28,672 24,611
New borrowings raised MEER 199,270 176,800
Repayment of borrowings BERR (13,700) (4,125)
Advance to an acquired subsidiary before ERRENEATHRIE
actual acquisition NG - 14,000
Net proceeds from minority shareholders REVERRZFGTIEFE - 125
Net cash from financing activities HERBELCEEFH 179,155 180,692
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRREZEENZ (HD) /B (9,767) 63,012
cash equivalents
. Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning FRzReRBECEEY
of the year (63,735) (126,747)
E Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year ERZBEEREEZEY (73,502) (63,735)
Analysis of the balance of cash and RBERBECEENER 2N
cash equivalents:
Cash in hand and general accounts included in RBeR—RRTPOER
bank balances 57,449 37,343
Bank overdrafts, secured PITEX FEM (130,931) (100,924)
Bank overdrafts, unsecured RTET  BEF (20) (154)
(73,502) (63,735)

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its
registered office is Ugland House, South Church Street, P.O. Box
309, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West
Indies. The principal place of business is 2nd Floor, Wah Kit
Commercial Centre, 302 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

As at the date of this report, CCAA Group Limited held direct
interests in 895,634,229 shares, representing approximately
70.28%, of the issued share capital of the Company.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of a wide
range of financial services including securities broking, futures
broking, securities margin financing, money lending, corporate
finance advisory, assets management, precious metal trading and
also property investment.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which
is the same as the functional currency of the Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3R

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-_ZTTZ+F=—A=+T—HLFE

R
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ZABARE - ERONBEME RS M
BRAR (BRAT]) £ o RRRIZ &
fift 41k & Ugland House, South Church
Street, P.O. Box 309, George Town,
Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands,
British West Indies ° H & & & 311 2
R BBEEETI02FEFEFER L2
& o

RAHERMF 2B - CCAA Group
Limited E # % A 7~ 2 71895,634,229f%
B WHEEARBEBHTRAZ
70.28% °
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B HERRE CEXREER AET
B EeBEERMERE -

FBEHRRAETES  BARF 28
EEER -

S GROUP LIMITED
FE R R oA A3 )

41



. M % OB R WA
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

EDN-I e
AT RREAAMBRRARR LIRS
ARE ARGEMBEEMENE —

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented. B o

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 2.
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These

(a) Basis of preparation:

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”). They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention except that the investment
properties, available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair
value.

The accounting policies and methods of computation are
consistent with those used in the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31st March, 2006 with the
addition of the following amendments to standards and
interpretation which are relevant to the Group’s operation
and are mandatory for the financial year ended 31st March,
2007:

(a)

RAEE
ARBZEEMBHRRERER
PBREEN([FERBREE
I MimEt - REHRRIIRIE
ELRARBERE - BRI E
WE AREEZHMBEERR
AFEREERIIRZMBEE
WAV EFEMELERT

REWZEMEREMRAZE
ABERFERERBEE_ST
NEZAZT-HLEEEZERE
MBRERFTRAE B L
THRAREZEEEH W&
BERBEZZTLEF=-A=1—
ALBBEERAZENRRE
Z B35

HKAS 39 Amendments Transition and Initial Recognition of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities

FREERMBEBEZER RN ER

Cash Flow Hedge Accounting of Forecast Intragroup Transactions

BRAEERR S ReREBH T T EE

The Fair Value Option

N EEE

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and

BRI ERFIRETA

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 4 Amendments
Insurance Contracts — Financial Guarantee Contracts
BB LR EIR RBEBTH CRIA: BARTERRBEAOVHKERED

WMEEAEARETAR

WERARBRBZETHARE
SHBRLBELEATE -

These amendments to standards and interpretations had
no material effect on the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued) 2. BEASHRRBE (B)

(a) Basis of preparation: (Continued) (a) MELEE ()
The following new standards, amendment to standards and THFAER] - R RBRE 2B
interpretations are relevant to the Group’s operation but HASE 2BEH  HERZF
are not effective for 2007 and have not been early adopted: TEHETAREMA T ERAK
A :
HKAS 1 Amendment Capital Disclosures
BEBEHENFIRETAR AR R
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
BABmEEE TR TEMIA: KE
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
BB W5 RS 2RI E 8% rEHE
HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under HKAS 29 Financial

Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

EE (BRPBREENRERES) REFEGHERE2RBHBENREER <M BHSE ]| HFA

- REETH B
HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 8 Scope of HKFRS 2
BB (HRUBRELENREZES) ERMBRELNE2R 2 HE

— REFLHR
HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
BB (HRUBRELENREZES) BRAERAXITELR

- REFR
HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
BB (AR BRELENREZES) I S IR ROR(E

— REE10%
HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 11 Group and Treasury Share Transactions
BB (HRUBERELENREZES) SERMERHRS

- REBER
HK(IFRIC) - Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements
BB (HRTBERELENREZES) PR 7 s 37 #E 2 BE

— REF12%
The Group believes that the adoption of the above new AEBMBEHRAN EZFER
standards, amendment to standards and interpretations ERIRREZ BT EHASE
will not result in substantial changes to the Group’s BreidBoREaikaNEs
accounting policies except that there will be additional BRI ERNEIREBIARE
disclosures required by HKAS 1 Amendment and HKFRS BHBREERETRMAEZ
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

BE
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woxR M =

SETLESAS—AILERE

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

b)

c)

Basis of consolidation:
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances
within the Group have been eliminated on consolidation.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an
associate represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary
or associate at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
is presented separately in the balance sheet. Capitalised
goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate (which is
accounted for using the equity method) is included in the
cost of the investment of the relevant associate.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually, and
whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial
year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the
unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then
to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the income
statement. An impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed
in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

c)

d)

Goodwill (Continued)

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Excess of an acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of an
acquirer’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost (“discount on acquisitions”)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary for which an agreement date is on or after 1st
January, 2005 represents the excess of the net fair value
of an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of the business combination.
Discount on acquisition is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition
of an associate or a jointly controlled entity is included as
income in the determination of the investor’s share of
results of the associate or jointly controlled entity in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the assets to working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance
and overhaul cost, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure
has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits
expected to be obtained from the use of an item of
property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

d)

e)

Property, plant and equipment: (Continued)
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost or fair value
of items of property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, at
the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings

2.

HETH REF

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
XA KBEREE

Motor vehicles

E

BHEAOF SR
15% - 30%
15% —30%
15% - 30%
15%—30%

The land and buildings elements of a lease of land and
buildings are considered separately for the purposes of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements,
in which case, the entire lease is generally treated as a
finance lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Investment properties:

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in the profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use or no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposals proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the income statement in the year in which
the items is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

f)

9)

Subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern
the financial and operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when
assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less any impairment loss. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

Associates:

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the financial statements using the equity
method of accounting less any identified impairment loss.
Under the equity method, investments in associates are
carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share
of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in
the value of individual investments. When the group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payment on
behalf of the associate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

9)

h)

Associates: (Continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at
the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The
goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the
investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in the income statement.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Intangible assets:

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired are
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset
are measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in the income statement when the asset is
derecognised.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually by comparing their carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts, irrespective of whether
there is any indication that they may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
is recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

h)

Intangible assets:

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may
be impaired.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost includes cost of purchase computed using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value is determined
by reference to the sales proceeds of items sold in the
ordinary course of business after the balance sheet date
or to management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
TEELtF=-A=+—HILFE
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

Investments:

The Group classifies its investments in the following

categories: trade and other receivables, available-for-sale

financial assets, financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss
on the

and loan receivables. The classification depends
purpose for which the investments were acquired.

Management determines the classification of its investments

at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at

every reporting date.

i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in income
statement in the period in which they arise. All
derivatives financial assets are also categorised as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
unless they are designated as hedges.

Trade and other receivables:

Trade and other receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. At each
balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
trade and other receivables are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses. An impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate. Impairment losses
are reversed in subsequent periods when an
increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
i Investments: (Continued)

fif)

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated or not
classified as any of the other categories (set out
above). At each balance sheet date subsequent to
initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets
are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value
are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at
which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in equity is removed from equity and
recognised in the income statement. If any objective
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial
assets, the cumulative loss measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial assets previously recognised in the income
statement is removed from equity and recognised
in the income statement. Impairment losses on
available-for-sale equity investments shall not
reverse through the income statements.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not
have a quoted market price in an active market
and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured,
they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss
is recognised in the income statement when there
is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
The amount of the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the carrying amount of the
asset and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate
Such
impairment losses shall not reverse in subsequent
periods.

of return for a similar financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

2,

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

)

k)

Investments: (Continued)

iv) Loan receivables:
Loan receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market, including placements
with banks and other financial institutions,
investment debt securities without an active market
and loans and advances to customers. Loan
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Properties held for development:

Properties held for development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is
determined by reference to sale proceeds received after
the balance sheet date less selling expenses, or by
management estimates based on prevailing market
conditions.

Costs of properties include acquisition costs, development
expenditure, interest and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. The carrying values of properties held by
subsidiaries are adjusted in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the Group’s actual acquisition costs
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

1)

m)

Impairment of assets:

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.

Taxation:
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
it further excludes items that are never taxable and
deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Tax recoverable represent the excess of provisional profits
tax paid over the estimate tax liability.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

m)

Taxation: (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to the
income statement, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also dealt with in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

n)

o)

Borrowing costs:

Borrowing cost directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of these assets until such times as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing cost eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in income
statement in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currency translation:

i) Functional and presentation currency
[tems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency.

i) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007
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Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

o)

Foreign currency translation: (Continued)
fii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group’s
entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

b) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of

the transactions); and

c) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of

equity.

p) Financial guarantees issued, provision and

contingencies:
i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt

instrument.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

p)

Financial guarantees issued, provision and

contingencies: (Continued)

i)

Financial guarantees issued (Continued)

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the
fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction
price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably
estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income
within trade and other payables. Where
consideration is received or receivable for the
issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an
immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss
on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as
deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over
the term of the guarantee as income from financial
guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are
recognised in accordance with note 2(p)(ii) if and
when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of the
guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the
Group is expected to exceed the amount currently
carried in trade and other payables in respect of
that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation.

Provisions and contingencies:

A provision is recognised when there is a present
obligation, legal or constructive, as a result of a
past event and it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Provisions are reviewed regularly and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where
the effect of the time value of money is material,
the amount of a provision is the present value of
the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)
p) Financial guarantees issued, provision and

contingencies: (Continued)

i) Provisions and contingencies: (Continued)
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group.
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required
or the amount of obligation cannot be measured

reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the note on the financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so the outflow is probable, it will then be

recognised as a provision.

q) Revenue recognition:

i) Commission and brokerage income, placement and

underwriting commission,

handling fees, corporate finance advisory fees and
investment management fee are recognised when
the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that

they will be received.

ii) Interest income is accrued, on a time proportion
basis by reference to the principal outstanding and

at the effective rate applicable.

iii) Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the period of the respective leases.

iv) Sale of precious metal is recognised, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership; nor
effective control over the goods sold.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

r

t)

Operating lease:

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are expensed in the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

Related parties:

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are
considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise
significant influence over the party in marking financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group
and the party are subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals
(being members of key management personnel, significant
shareholders and/or their close family members) or other
entities and include entities which are under the significant
influence of related parties of the Group where those parties
are individuals.

Cash and cash equivalents:

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
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2,

Summary of significant accounting policies (Continued)

u)

v)

Segment reporting:

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting
the Group has determined that business segments be
presented as the primary reporting format and geographical
segments as the secondary reporting format.

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to that
segment. For example, segment assets may include
broking, financing, corporate finance, assets management,
precious metal trading, property investment and investment
holding. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities
are determined before intra-group balances and intra-group
transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation
process, except to the extent that such intra-group
balances and transactions are between Group enterprises
within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on
similar terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the period to acquire segment assets that are
expected to be used for more than one period.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, turnover is
based on the country of operations. Total assets and capital
expenditure are where the assets are located.

Employees benefits

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution mandatory
provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is
available to all employees. Contributions to the MPF
Scheme by the Group and its employees are calculated at
5% of the employees’ basic salaries with a maximum cap
of HK$1,000 per month. The Group’s contributions to the
fund are expensed as incurred and the assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administrated fund.

Payments to the Group’s MPF Scheme are charged as
expenses as they fall due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group did not use any critical accounting
estimates in the preparation of the financial statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or prolonged
decline in fair value below cost is considered to be objective
evidence of impairment. Judgment is required when determining
whether a decline in fair value has been significant and/or
prolonged. In making this judgment, the historical data on market
volatility as well as the price of the specific investment are taken
into account. The Group also takes into account other factors,
such as industry and sector performance and financial information
regarding the issuer/investee.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

a) Financial risk factors:
The Group’s major financial instruments comprise amounts
due from investee companies, available-for-sale financial
assets, loan receivables, trade and other receivables,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, cash
and bank balances, amounts due to related parties,
creditors and borrowings.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest
rate risk and foreign currency risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

4, Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

a) Financial risk factors: (Continued)

i)

i)

Market price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities which
are classified in the consolidated balance sheet as
available-for-sale financial assets. These are
susceptible to market price risk arising from
uncertainties about the future prices of the
instruments. The Group’s market price risk is
managed through diversification of the investment
portfolio ratios by exposures.

Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which
is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay
amounts in full when due. Impairment provisions
are provided for losses that have been incurred by
the balance sheet date, if any. The Group is
responsible for monitoring the amount of credit
exposure to any financial institution.

Liquidity risk

The Group invests in unlisted securities which are
designated as available-for-sale financial assets.
Those unlisted securities may not be traded in an
organised public market and may be illiquid. As a
result, the Group may not be able to liquidate
quickly its investments in these instruments at an
amount close to their fair value in order to meet its
liquidity requirements or to respond to specific
events such as deterioration in the creditworthiness
of any particular issuer. Prudent liquidity risk
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of credit facilities and
the ability to close out market positions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

a)

b)

Financial risk factors: (Continued)

iv) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to risks associated with the
effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
market interest rates on its financial position and
cash flows since the Group has interest-bearing
assets and borrowings issued at variable rate.

v) Foreign currency risk
The Group hold assets denominated in currencies
other than the HK dollars, the functional currency.
The Group is therefore exposed to foreign currency
risk, as the value of the securities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to the changes
in exchange rates.

Fair value estimation:

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance
sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the published price quotations.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and
makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted market prices,
dealer quotes for similar instruments and other techniques,
such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to
determine the fair value.

All financial instrument’s fair values at 31st March, 2007
and 2006 are not materially different from their carrying
values.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
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5. Turnover and segment information EXBERDPEER
a) Turnover: a) =0
The Group
rE
(In HK$’000) (BB TFTRENRN) 2007 2006
Commission and brokerage BELREZ2AER
income from securities broking EREME WA 24,853 11,993
Commission and brokerage HELLEz2RERk
income from futures broking KRB WA 2,449 2,060
Interest income from FLE AR
- margin clients -HREF 15,019 11,953
- money lending —-BNEE 35,191 38,744
- financial institutions and others ~ — B 7 ##8 I H {th 7R 5,747 3,186
Management and handling fees EHHEFEE 2,046 1,380
Commission for subscribing new — REFHRH &
shares 137 90
Corporate finance advisory fees TEREEME 587 675
Placement and underwriting iz kBiERe
commission 5,088 1,451
Investment management fee REERE 2,977 2,565
Rental income HE W= 3,724 3,119
Sales of precious metal EeEHEE 110,161 -
207,979 77,216
I(”; ; GO‘%" F&LI,XI%E2 ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % #



5. Turnover and segment information

b) Segment information
i) Business segments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE
5. EXERIPBEER

2EEHR

For management purposes, the Group is currently

organised into seven operating divisions namely

broking, financing, corporate finance, assets

management, property investment, precious metal

trading and investment holding. These divisions are

the basis on which the Group reports its primary

segment information.

Principal activities are as follows:

Broking

Financing

Corporate finance

Assets management

Property investment
Precious metal

trading
Investment holding

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3R

Securities brokerage a
futures brokerage
Securities margin financi
and money lending
Corporate finance adviso
placing and underwriting

b)
nd
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ry,

Assets management for listed

and unlisted companies and

high net worth individuals

Property rental and dealing

Precious metal trading

Share investments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

5. Turnover and segment information (Continued) 58
b) Segment information (Continued) b)
i) Business segments (Continued)

An analysis of segment information of the Group
on these businesses for the years ended 31st

EXERDEEN ()

SBEN ()

) EBAE )
ARERESEEREE
—ERLFER-_FENF
SA=t—AILFEZSH

March, 2007 and 2006 is as follows: MARSHWT :
Corporate Assets Property Precious Investment
Broking Financing finance management investment metal trading holding Consolidated
&4 S i 4 BEER ES T EEREE RERR Ge

(In HK$'000) (WAEFTEENR) 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
Segment revenue; 7 M ¢
Sales to external - HEFIK

customers RF 29,348 15,433 55957 53883 5812 2216 2977 20665 3,724 3,119 110,161 - - - 207,979 77,216
Segment resus 7 %E 10,278 4631 41,570 40054 5738 1498 2852 1774 949 637 1,512 - - (1) 62,899 48,593
Net investment & WA

income
Icrease In far ~ &ENELTE

value of LA

investment

properties 162,977 16,836
Gain on aoquiston & AP 2 71T

of asubsidlary B 77 1,631 67,19
Gain on disposal  HEMBRAZ

of asubsidiary 7 - 18,100
Povisionfor ~ REHEE

doubtful debts (3,087) (2,508)
Gain on disposal HEN%

of property, BERTE

plant and FELE RN

equipment 94 =
Bad debts BUAEE L

recovered - 18,484
Other revenve  Eh i 661 66
Share of results ~ EEBERFZ

of associates %% 195 248
Profit before REAEH

taxation 225,420 167,013
Income tax FERRS

expense (10,847) (11,724)
Profi for the year &7 214,573 155,289
I(”’%E;T %GOUﬁP LI,XI%E? ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # #
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007

HE-_ZETL+F=A=1+—HILFE

5. Turnover and segment information (Continued) EEBRIBEERN (B)
b) Segment information (Continued) b) DEER ()
) Business segments (Continued) ) REBDHE(E)
An analysis of segment information of the Group ﬁi:ﬁgiiﬁiig
) NF=HA=T—8H £3
on these businesses for the years ended 31st . P
, / ZEBSBERS D
March, 2007 and 2006 is as follows: T
Property Precious Investment Inter-segment
Broking Financing management investment metal trading holding glimination Gonsolidated
i i# BREE VEDES 6 RE2R HBEEY fia
(In HKS 000) 001 A0 000 206 000 2006 000 2006 2000 206 2000 2006 000 2006 2000 206
Assets
Segment asses 167445 125756 580,83 554,803 8022 5600 40606 208443 112847 - 140000 128000  (74563)  (2486) 1,366,191 1,070,295
Interests in
ass0clates 06,791 20481
Unallocated
coporteassels DEKEE 0 3%
Consolidated totel
assels 140017 1,093,931
Liabilities
Segment iabies 101888 62041 344955 401216 10 0 5% 10131 110613 - 128000 - (T4563)  (2486) 626,660 490912
[nferests in
as30ckates - -
Unallocated
comorate
[iabiltes 040 37180
Consolidated fofdl £
[iblties 666,080 528,09
Other information £ &8
Captd erpenditre. EXER 889 ) 3 187 B 164 101 - 1,016 441
Depreciation i 5% 57 80 4 % - 631 51
Poisonfor  REBAE
doubtful dsbts - i 308 20 3007 2008
Bad debs EWARE
Tecovered - 1648 - 16484
UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2007 & 3R ( % # & ®B #H W 2 # )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

5. Turnover and segment information (Continued)
b) Segment information (Continued)
i) Geographical segments
The Group’s operations are principally located in
Hong Kong and Macau. The Group’s administration
is carried out in Hong Kong.

The following table provides an analysis of the
Group’s turnover by geographical market and
analysis of total assets and capital expenditure by
the geographical area in which the operations and
assets are located.

3 EXBERDEER (B)
b) DEER (&)
i) ESE
AREEETEURE
BRRM . MEEZTR
BREBEBELT °

TRERAKEZEEN
wEmEAREEERE
AXHNZEEREER
FEHIRME 2 DA o

Capital
Turnover Total assets expenditure

EX® BER BERLH
(In HK$000)  (LEBFrAEE[) 2007 2007 2006 2007 2006
Hong Kong N 204,255 74,097 821,680 686,561 993 277
Macau P 3,724 618,397 407,370 23 164
207,979 77,216 1,440,077 1,093,931 1,016 441

6. Finance costs A& B AN
The Group
A

(In HK$’000) (BB T REN) 2007 2006
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts BITEFRRBIZFERAY 7,456 6,683
Interest on other loans HERZ2FERAX 2,946 2,454
10,402 9,137

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3



M % H x M

=

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE

7. Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation has been arrived at after charging and
crediting the following:

BR B A 2 A

BRBADE A W R A TS E

The Group
NS
(In HK$°000) (BB TTRENMN) 2007 2006
Charging: Bk
Auditors’ remuneration ZERI B 2
— current year G 369 299
— underprovision in prior year —AFEZBREIR - 27
369 326
Staff costs 8 TR 17,512 9,712
Depreciation e 631 541
Operating leases rentals in respect HEMEZKE
of rented premises HEHS 1,194 880
Crediting: BEA
Rental income from operating leases KEBERSWARE L
less outgoings (Gross rental income: (AW A\ 458 « 3,724,1897%8 1T
HK$3,724,189 (2006: HK$3,119,415))  (ZZ T X% : 3,119,415% 1)) 3,502 2,901
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  #BERZHE
and equipment 2 W 94 =
ANNUAL REPORT 2007 & # I(“;E;T %Go‘%" F&LI,LI\‘\“%E?
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

8. Directors’ remuneration 8.
a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments

The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31st
March, 2007 is set out below:

EEMS
a) ESNEAREEEMNS

EEFRBE-STLE=AS
+-BLFEZMEBIIMT

Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
benefits, bonuses
other and/or
allowances  Retirement performance- Compensation  Inducement
and benefits benefits related for loss for joining
Fees inkind contributions bonuses of office the Group Total
BAge
REEA &L ng
Af2ER & R/ A5HE
(In HKS'000) (WAEETTAEN) we  BUAE  BAHR  AMPL EREE ZRB @t
Non-executive director: FaNES:
Mr. Wong King Keung, Peter ERERE 100 - - - - - 100
Executive directors: HnEs:
Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas IS %5 50 - 1 - - - 51
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles OEmLE - 130 6 - - - 136
Mr. Li Kwok Cheung, George ZEERE - 582 21 - - - 603
Ms. Cheng Wai Ling, Annie BERNE - a7 11 - - - 258
Independent non-executive BUFNNES:
directors:
Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David BEREE 50 = = = = - 50
Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex FRELE 50 = = = = - 50
Mr. Fuk Ho Kai EbERE 30 - - - - - 30
280 959 39 - - - 1,278

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE

8. Directors’ remuneration (Continued) 8. EEME (&)
a) Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments a) EEREREEEME (&
(Continued) BEZERBE_TT R F=A=
The remuneration of every director for the year ended 31st T-RIEFEZHMeHEINNAT

March, 2006 is set out below:

Basic
salaries,
housing Discretionary
benefits, bonuses
other and/or
allowances  Retirement performance- Compensation  Inducement
and benefits benefits related for loss for joining
Fees inkind contributions bonuses of office the Group Total
EXFE
EERA MEPL nE
HipRRR &R R/ A%E
(in HKS000) (WAEFTBEL) fie EBUNE  RAMR  BRwWAd  EEER ZRB a5
Non-executve director: FRES:
Mr. Wong King Keung, Peter HRELE 100 - - - - - 100
Executive directors: 0rEs:
Mr. Wong Ching Hung, Thomas I £ 4 50 - 1 - - - 51
Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles gEmLE - 130 6 - - - 136
Mr.Li Kwok Cheung, George ~~ ZEELE - 453 18 59 - - 530
Indspendent non-executive BUFnOES:
directors:
Mr. Wong Wai Kwong, David HERLE 50 = = = = - 50
Mr. Pang Cheung Hing, Alex YRAELE 50 - - - - - 50
M. Fuk Ho Kai EEEEE 30 - - - - - 30
280 583 25 59 - - 947
No directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration FRNESVEREXREREL
during the year (2006: Nil). MME (ZSTRF &) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

BE

8.

SETLESAS—AILERE

Directors’ remuneration (Continued) 8. EEME (&)
b) Details of emoluments of the five highest paid b) EEGEEHMAL (BEEER
individuals (including directors and other employees) Hitfgg) o515 -
are:
(In HK$’000) (LB T RENN) 2007 2006
Fees we - =
Basic salaries BN % B 654 654
Housing benefits, other allowances &EEf&@F| + £ b2 8k
and benefits in kind REMHM &= 29 31
Retirement benefits contributions & 4K 48 F # % 41 31
Discretionary bonuses and/or BB IEA &/ sk 8 AT 4T
performance-related bonuses 7,087 3,010
Compensation for loss of office BEMg B (B - =

Inducement for joining the Group I ALE 2 = =

7,811 3,726
For the year ended 31st March, 2007, one (2006: one) of RZZET+F=A=1T—HFE ' —4%
the highest paid individuals was an executive director of (ZEERF: —RA)EasMATAR
the Company, whose emoluments are included in Note NERTES  FEZHEBEHRNH T
8(a). 8(a) °
Analysis of the emoluments of the five highest paid heasesMAL (BRESREME
individuals (including directors and other employees) by B)RAELMeHES AT OT :

number of individuals and emolument ranges is as follows:

2007 2006
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 3 4
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7t £ 1,500,0007% 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T £ 3,000,000/% JT 2 -
Earnings per share 9. BRER
The basic earnings per share is based on the Group’s profit BRENGMDBEARNREZZEEA
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately JE 1 7N 5 B )4 71 #9213,603,0007% 7T (=
HK$213,603,000 (2006: HK$155,296,000) and the weighted T T NE 1 155,296,000 0) KA F[E
average number of 1,261,817,638 (2006: 1,239,769,701) ordinary BEETEBR 2 MET A
shares in issue during the year. 1,261,817,638% (= T & X F

1,239,769,7018%) 5T & o

There is no diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31st ARRWEEBEESHE L ERBRT

March, 2007 and 2006 presented since the Company has no AT EZVNEE_STLER-

dilutive potential ordinary shares. EERNFZAZ+—HILEFEZEKE
B A o

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3
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Income tax expense

a)

M % ® Ok W =

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10.

Income tax expense in the consolidated income statement

represents:

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE-_ZTT+HHF-_A=+—HLEFE

Frg %R x

a)

mAWERZEHRAXE

The Group
RE
(In HK$°000) (LB FrrREf) 2007 2006
Hong Kong profits tax BEMEN
— current year —REE 10,847 11,724

i) Provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made b) i) BEMEHDBERE
at the rate of 17.5% (2006; 17.5%) 17.5%(=— T T A&
17.5%) B o
i) No provision for overseas taxation has been made i) BB INEIE 2 SR A
as the amount is insignificant. BEAX AUt mERE
.
Income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the c) REEREHAZ A EERE W
profit per the consolidated income statement as follows: ROBFHIRAT
The Group
~EH

(In HK$’000) (LB FTREN) 2007 2006
Profit before taxation B 7 A 4 A 225,420 167,013
Tax at the statutory income tax BAETMBREAT 5% E

rate of 17.5% Z A 39,448 29,227
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue T3 iR H 7 WA K1 765 5 & (29,762) (17,966)
Tax effect of non-deductible TEMGR  AIOBBEZE

expenses 623 226
Tax effect of unrecognised ABERANERMEZEN

temporary difference W EE (20) 30
Tax effect of tax losses not ABRHBEBEENTH

recognised 2 712 183
Utilisation of tax losses previously A F KR 2 RIS EIE

not recognised (23) -
Others Hth (131) 24
Income tax expense TS Rim X 10,847 11,724

EST GROUP

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

10. Income tax expense (Continued) 10.

d) At the balance sheet date, the Group had unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$120,342,000 (2006:
HK$113,414,000) available for offsetting against future
taxable profits. However, no deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future taxable
profits. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

11.  Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the 11.

Company

The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent of
HK$40,993,000 (2006: HK$34,095,000).

FrEsHEx (&)

d) REZER  AEEFAAHEHER
RERTRN 2 RBARBER
#1120,342,0008 70 (ZZZ X
1 113,414,000 7T) ° AT -
B A K BT8R R 2R B &R i i A1l 2
A Rt EERELET A
EoBEEBRERALE -

ARERBFRAREFARA
A QAR A A 740,993,000

BT (ZEENE ¢ 34,095,000 ) &
ERRBIZHBHRRFPERE -

—

12.  Dividends 12. RE
(In HK$’000) (BB TFTARENRN) 2007 2006
Final dividend proposed of HK3.2 cents BRERBRS - BREBRAET
(2006: HK2.8 cents) per ordinary share 32 (ZEZRF - Fra.sil) 40,782 35,087

The amount of the proposed final dividend for the year ended
31st March, 2007 of HK3.2 cents will be payable in cash with an
option to elect scrip is not accounted for until it has been approved
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

BE-PRLF=A=t-BLFEZ
BRI BB T3 2B R S XA
TARBURKS - ARDBRTZ
BEBEARLRBHER - HTI

=

i

o

\
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Property, plant and equipment

M OB O® x KM =
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE-_ZTT+HHF-_A=+—HLEFE

13, M%E - BERRE

The Group: REHE :
Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
Buildings  equipment vehicles Total
HE£B
(In HK$'000) (LB FLBES) BEY R#EfE AE B
Net book value as at RRFE
1st April, 2005 (note i) RZZEREMA—AB (&) 900 731 595 2,226
Additions B - 93 184 277
Depreciation e (60) (311) (170) (541)
Net book value as at REFE
31st March, 2006 RZBERF=A=1— 840 518 609 1,962
At 31st March, 2006 RZEERE=ZA=1+—H
Cost AR 900 3,142 941 4,983
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE (60) (2,629) (332) (3,021)
Net book value REFE 840 513 609 1,962
Net book value as at RHEFE
1st April, 2006 RZZL FNA—H 840 513 609 1,962
Additions R - 453 540 993
Disposal HE - - (156) (156)
Depreciation ik (20) (371) (240) (631)
Net book value as at RHEFE
31st March, 2007 RZ2Z+F=A=1+—H 820 595 753 2,168
At 31st March, 2007 RZEE+LE=A=1—H
Cost R 900 3,595 1,001 5,586
Accumulated depreciation ZRNE (80) (3,000) (338) (3,418)
Net book value REFE 820 595 753 2,168
Note: fiyst
) The analysis of net book ) RZEERFENA-AHZ
value as at 1st April 2005 REEIHET
was as follow:
Cost KA 900 3,049 757 4,706
Accumulated depreciation ZRNE - (2,318) (162) (2,480)
Net book value REFE 900 731 595 2,226

i) The total cost of property, plant and equipment disposed of during the

year was approximately HK$390,000 (2006: HK$Nil).

i) RAFELEME  HERZERKREL
£390,0008 T (ZEERF &) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

BE

14.

15.

T+ E=RA=+—HIFE

Investment properties 14. REW*E
The Group: AEE:
(In HK$’000) (BB T REN) 2007 2006
Fair value: NEE
At 1st April R A—H 187,000 170,000
Additions BN 23 164
Net increase in fair value recognised in C,ﬁ?./:.\ﬂﬂl t 5 B IER
the consolidated income statement NEEZENFE 162,977 16,836
At 31st March R=B=+—8H 350,000 187,000
The Group’s investment properties are situated in Macau and are REBZEEMEURNRMAREERH
held under medium term lease. A o
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31st March, REER-ZZZTLtF=ZA=FT—HE=
2007 and 2006 have been arrived at on the basis of market value SR EFREMENRAFEDRIEEE
of a valuation carried out at that date by LCH (Asia-Pacific) VEEGBEMANETAEMBRA B
Surveyors Limited, an independent professional valuers. Investment BTz miZBENEERE - KREME
properties were valued on market basis assuming sale with vacant DERARTMEREE  BEUARFERLL
possession or otherwise subject to the existing tenancies. EAXBEEFERDOR -
The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases. AEENCEHERLRENE -
Intangible assets 15. BREE
The Group: ANEF :
(In HK$’000) (LB FTREN) 2007 2006
Trading rights in the Stock Exchange Bk AT P e HAAZ P
and the HKFE 2R
Cost at 1st April and 31st March, KARMA—BRER=ZA=1+—8H
net of accumulated amortisation SHBHERATE 2,040 2,040
Cost (gross carrying amount) (DN 3,400 3,400
Accumulated amortisation RETEH (1,360) (1,360)
Net carrying amount IR (E 2,040 2,040
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. Interest in subsidiaries

16.

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE-_ZTT+HHF-_A=+—HLEFE

R B DR 2 B

The Company

RAFE
(In HK$’000) (LB FaEN) 2007 2006
Unlisted shares, at cost FEEMESF  KAE 10,615 10,615
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG 314,271 279,778
Amount due to a subsidiary ORI (6,108) (6,108)
318,778 284,285

The amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed repayment terms.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2007 are as
follows:

U (AR MBRRARAREER
B REEEERDY

N-EE
N — =
§

ZTLF=HA=1t—H  FRAH
BIATHE

AR ¢

=z

Principal Percentage of interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
BRTRAR
WEAREMH AR FTEEEBY SERREAL TEEH LERRA
Upbest Financial Holdings British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding
EERAES BA RERK E
Upbest Land Company British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding
RERTES BE REEK 1ET
Citybest Management British Virgin Macau 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding
HERAES R REER E
Companhia De Macau Macau 100% Property MOP25,000
Desenvolvimento E investment
Formento Predial Si
Wan Limitada
KREEXRERARRA R il MERE 250008 T
Full Benefit Investment Limited British Virgin Macau 100% Investment USs$1
MAHIEEERAR Islands holding
EERAES B RERK E
UPBEST GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3R (% # £ m #7 B A 7 )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

16.

Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2007 are as

follows: (Continued)

16.  RHELE 2R (F)
R-FTLFZA=+—A  ARTH

BATHBAR : (&)

Principal ~ Percentage of interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

BRTRER

NG R MBI E TEEEMH SEFREAL TEEH SERRA

Gold-Face Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Money lending  HK$28,000,004

BREBERLF BE 2 EHBE 28,000,004% T

Good Foundation Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$10,000
Limited holding

MEERAA B Bk REZER 10,000/ 7T

Good Profit Development Samoa Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited holding

A EEER DA BED 2 REER IE

King Standard International British Virgin Macau 100% Property holding US$1

Limited Islands

RBRAFES 2 EER [

Marco Tech Limited British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment us$2
Islands holding

EBRUES &b REER 2%

Mei Tou Real Estate Company Macau Macau 100% Property MOP25,000
Limited investment

FEHERRAA R 2 NERE 25,0002 1T

Mei Wo Real Estate Company Macau Macau 100% Property MOP25,000
Limited investment

FMHERRAA R 2 NERE 25,0002 1T

Pearl Star Holding Limited Samoa Macau 100% Investment US$1
holding

EED A REZRR (E

Perfect Result Investment British Virgin Macau 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding

FERBBERATA EREAES A REER (E

Phantasy Development Hong Kong Hong Kong 70% Property HK$18,000
Limited investment

INERERAA 2 Bk NERA 18,0007 7T

;T %G%O%P mLI,XI%ED) ANNUAL REPORT 2007 & %R
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Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

M % ® Ok W =

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2007 are as

follows: (Continued)

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

BE-_ZTT+HHF-_A=+—HLEFE
RNBAR s (&)
RZZEZtF=ZA=+—H RRAAH
BUATHBRA : (8)

Principal  Percentage of interest Issued and fully

Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary

Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital

BRTRER

WEARER ARt E FTEEEBY SERREAL TEEH EBRER

Solar Land Group Limited British Virgin Hong Kong 70% Investment Us$10
Islands holding

KERTES BB RERR 107

Upbest Assets Management Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Assets HK$600,000
Limited management

FREBERAA BB Bk EEER 600,000 7T

Upbest Bullion Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$5,500,000
holding

FREEFRERAA BB Bk REZK 550000087

Upbest Commodities Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Futures dealing  HK$10,000,000

Limited

FRASHRAT Bk BB HEEE 10,000,000/ T

Upbest Cyber Trade Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% IT project HK$2
Limited management

FRETHERARAA B BB BEARE 2B
HEER

Upbest Finance Company Limited  Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Money lending HK$2

FRUBAERRAA B b EREE 2B

Upbest Gold Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong 75% Bullion dealing HK$10,000

FREERAT Bk 0 E¢EE 10,0007 ¢

Upbest Hong Kong Land British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Company Limited Islands holding

RERLES b RERR 1=

Upbest Investment Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities  HK$25,000,000
Limited margin financing

FRBREBRAA BB 3 BHEFEBE 250000008 T

Upbest Macau Land Company British Virgin Hong Kong 100% Investment US$1
Limited Islands holding

FREMEZERAA KERTES BiE RERR e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

REBAR 2R (E)
R=FFLF=A=+—0 KRR
BUTHBRRA : ()

16. Interest in subsidiaries (Continued) 16.
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31st March, 2007 are as
follows: (Continued)

Principal  Percentage of interest Issued and fully
Place of place of attributable to Principal paid ordinary
Name of subsidiary incorporation operation the Group activities share capital
BRITRAR
WEBAREH dAfRzeE FEEEHH SERREAL TEEH LERRA
Upbest Securities Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Securities dealing ~ HK$10,000,000
Limited and broking
FEEFBERLF BB BE EHRHREL  10,000,000% 7T
Upbest Strategic Company Hong Kong Hong Kong 100% Investment HK$5,002
Limited holding
EFREBERAT BB BB REER 5,002/ 7T
Upbest Precious Metals (Asia) Hong Kong Hong Kong 75% Precious metals HK$500,000
Limited dealing
FRECE (TM BRAF BA BA EeEEE 500,000/ 1T
Companhia De Fomento Macau Macau 60% Investment and MOP500,000
Predial E Investimento civil engineering
San San, Limitada
MAMEERRERAA B R BRERLTAIE 500,000 T

AEETHEREFEN  MEMBLRAF
HERBEZEREER

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Interests in associates 17. REBEELRZER

(In HK$’000) (LB TFrREN) 2007 2006

Unlisted investments, at cost FELEMEE - BRKRA 123 1

Share of post-acquisition profits less losses &1k U B 1% 30 B B5 18 1% )i 7 11,513 247
11,636 248

Amounts due from associates R Wi B 2 1) ) 3108 55,155 20,233
66,791 20,481

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free
and have no fixed terms for repayment.

The Group’s interest in its principal associates, all of which are
unlisted, were as follows:

RN E RBFELAEER  RERE
EE B o

AEARERAF LT ETERLE AR
M

Particulars Form of Percentage of
of issued business Place of effective interest
Name of associate shares held structure incorporation attributable to the Group Principal activities
BRCERT E3 o1 AL L
BENAER RAFE i i 2 SEERBREIL TEER
Acetrade Investments 25 ordinary Incorporated British Virgin 25% Property investment
Limited shares of US$1 Islands
each
B ERIET
ZERK % RERLES NERE
Upbest Financial 1 ordinary shares Incorporated Hong Kong 50% Provision of
Services Limited of HK$1 each financial services
RER1ET
ZERK % BB RESBRY
Hoi Wing Construction 1 ordinary Incorporated Macau 45% Property Investment
Development share of
Company Limited MOP126,000
RERERNT
126,000,2 & E R NERE
ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3R }JP%E;T %G%O%P F&LI,LI:\“%EI?
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17. Interests in associates (Continued) 17. REEQTZ2ER (8)
The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s AEEBENR 2 BB ERBEET W
associates is set out below: T
Group’s Group’s share
share of Profit/  of result of
Total Total net assets of (loss) for associate
assets liabilities associate Revenue the year  for the year
REEELR AEEE
NG ERER/ EEREE
(In HK$000) (WEETTRER) EEAE BEAE EERE & (BB) DRAZEAE
Acetrade Investments
Limited 102,561 100,924 408 7,496 2,494 408
Upbest Financial
Services Limited 778 2,470 - 1,180 (2,121) (248)
Hoi Wing Construction
Development
Company Limited 100,000 75,050 11,228 184 78 35
203,339 178,444 11,636 8,860 451 195
18.  Available-for-sale financial assets 18. AHLENKEE
The Group
rEE
(In HK$’000) (LB FTREN) 2007 2006
Unlisted equity investments, at cost FETRAKE  BEA 137 1
As at the balance sheet date, the unlisted equity investments of ReEn . RegaEE 7 E Fmikas
which their fair values cannot be measured reliably, are stated at BB N T AE TR B AN E 5 o
cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007

EE

—EFLF=A=t-ALEE

BSREMEKNE RERAN

B
The Group
rE
(In HK$’000) (LB TFTRENN) 2007 2006
Amounts receivable arising from the BHEEBZES R
ordinary course of business of dealing REEIS
in securities and options: JiE U 3R I8
- Cash clients, less provision for =
doubtful debts of HK$451,000 Rl £ R IR 451,000/ 7T
(2006: HK$451,000) (ZZEEREF © 451 ooo/%x)) 43,202 16,215
— The SEHK Options Clearing House —HMRHAEEEERA
Limited 2 2
- Hong Kong Securities Clearing —BAERREEERA
Company Limited 28,586 60,723
Accounts receivable from tenants U AR & T8 44 27
Amounts receivable arising from the HEEBZHEEGY
ordinary course of business of dealing R T
in futures contracts: FRIA
— Clearing house —EEAm 11,490 15,940
Amounts receivable arising from the HEEB CRHES
ordinary course of business of provision fERE
of securities margin financing: JiE U 3R I8
- Clients, less provision for —BP (RERIREH
doubtful debts of HK$13,031,000 13,031,000 T (ZTZE~F ¢
(2006: HK$12,327,000) 12,327,000 7)) 226,410 81,033
Amounts receivable arising from the HEEB ESE
ordinary course of business dealing in 8 & EWHIE
trading of precious metal:
~Clients -&P 9,383 -
Interest bearing loan receivables, B S ERER CREARIK
less provision for doubtful debts of B 594,507,000 7T
HK$94,507,000 (2006: HK$95,287,000)  (ZZFZ X4 : 95,287,000% 7T) ) 247,510 383,922
Other receivables H i JE U IR 3% 6,573 437
Deposits and prepayments e RENRIE 881 729
574,081 559,028
Portion classified as non-current assets DEEIERBEEDD (51,890) (89,898)
Portion classified as current assets DERRBEERH 522,191 469,130
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007

BE
19.

20.

21.

T+ E=RA=+—HIFE

Trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments 19. EZRHMEWRT - RERER
(Continued) FIE (&)
Margin client receivables of approximately HK$226,410,000 (2006: JE UL 7 B B IR 30 49226,410,000/% 7T
HK$81,033,000) are repayable on demand, bearing interest at (ZZZ"F : 81,033,000 ) BRE
market rate and secured by clients’ securities listed on the Stock HMEFER  MERMS T'J¥1%U|51 &M
Exchange with a market value of approximately HK$463,931,000 BE 2B A ERA -
as at 31st March, 2007 (2006: HK$192,511,000). E+E=ZA=+—HTMW fﬁ Tf
463,931,000 T (Z T T N F
192,511,000 7T) °
The settlement terms of cash client receivables and amounts due EUBREEFPIRFREREEMFKIEZ
from clearing houses are one or two days after the trade date. BXBARS5BE—EMA - LMK
The age of these balances is within 30 days. KRR A=THRA -
No ageing analysis is disclosed for margin client receivables and EXeRARRIMEKRABLTRR
interest bearing loan receivables as, in the opinion of the Board, BEXBREFBEXBRENME - B
the ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of the It - 3 R FT R P R MR R BT A A
nature of business of securities margin financing and money lending BRKER ZRE DT
business.
Other assets 20, HthEE
The Group
REE
(In HK$’000) (BB TFTARENRN) 2007 2006
Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company & & # %?ﬁiﬁ
Limited AR R
- Guarantee fund deposit —1 Ti?-flfi}ﬁ%’& 126 196
~ Admission fee —nER 100 100
Statutory deposit with the Stock Exchange B ”QFE}?&EE% 200 200
Statutory deposit with the Securities and ZEHNMHEEKERLEE S
Futures Commission FEERE 2,000 2,000
Reserve fund contribution to the ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ% EHEE
Stock Exchange Options BRRQ
Clearing House Limited 15%1%% 1,300 1,300
Reserve fund contribution to the ERHELEERRNA
HKFE Clearing Corporation Limited EEe 2,990 2,992
6,716 6,788
Properties held for development 21, BHEZRWE
The Group
~EE
(In HK$’000) (LB FrrREfr) 2007 2006
Properties held for development, HEERMEURRGE
at cost 83,307 71,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE

Inventories 22. B®E
The Group
RE
(In HK$’000) (BB TFrREN) 2007 2006
Precious metal, stated at cost S BUKAGE 13,747 =
Loan receivables 23. EWER

Included in loan receivables as at 31st March 2007 is an amount
of HK$127,999,000 (2006: HK$127,999,000) which is unsecured,
interest-free and has no fixed repayment terms.

Amounts due from related companies 24.

Amounts due from related companies represent margin client
receivables which are repayable on demand, bearing interest at
market rate and secured by client’s securities listed on the Stock
Exchange with a market value of approximately HK$79,175,000
as at 31st March, 2007 (2006: HK$60,424,000).

RZEZtF=A=+—HEKEZE
FE—5127,999,000/8 T HE (ZTZ X
F 127,999,000 L) ' AEEF - £
BREETERD -

B EE DT IE

BUNEELRFBEEEEFRREF 2R
B ERBNREERE BmEHER:T
g &LA@}EZ kBT BT R
H RZBEELE=A=+—HzmE
#A79,1750008 T (Z TN F ¢
60,424,000/ 7T) °

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 25. BRAVERBRRIIGZHEEE
The Group
rEE
(In HK$’000) (LB FTREN) 2007 2006
Derivative financial instruments at TENBEERNTE
fair value 68,172 -

Derivative financial assets represent financial instruments for trading
of precious metals with two financial institutions. These are
categorized as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
unless they are designated as hedges.

Bank balances and cash 26.

TEMBEERNME HBRBETE
SBEE - BIETTEMBEETEL
2R BA-RRERRATERKES
IR FEE

BRITHEBRES

The Company The Group
RAF RE

(In HK$’000) (LB FrrREf) 2007 2006 2007 2006
Cash at bank WITH

- General accounts -——&FPa 148 190 57,438 37,340

- Trust accounts Eidady - - 7,001 5,604

- Segregated accounts - nRREFA - - 5,679 3,694
Cash in hand b - - 11 3
Short-term bank deposits (Note) %2 #8817 17 7% (BT &) - - 70,054 65,359

148

190 140,183 112,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

26. Bank balances and cash (Continued)

Included in bank balances and cash in the consolidated balance

sheet are the following amounts denominated in a currency other

26. RITEBRAE (H)
BAREERBERAZRTEHRLESE
BARSENREEB NI ZEBHEZ

than the functional currency of the Group to which they relate: T5I 588
2007 2006
United States Dollars EH 204,724 1,526
Patacas BT 84,109 361,072
Note:  The amount represents fixed deposits pledged to a bank to secure fisr: ARRBEERTROZEHER
general banking facilities granted to the Group. ERAAEERR —RIBTHE ZER
l':l:lll °
27. Borrowings 27. B
The Group
RE
(In HK$’000) (KBETFTREN) 2007 2006
Borrowings comprise: ERBE:
Bank overdrafts BITEX 130,951 101,078
Bank loan RITEHX 100,501 -
Other loans HiER
— interest bearing — i B 133,869 48,800
— interest free -%8 128,000 128,000
493,321 277,878
Analysed as: VAR I
Secured AHEA 330,201 100,924
Unsecured mEEA 163,120 176,954
493,321 277,878
Borrowings are repayable as follows: RTHNFHEEZEE
Within one year or on demand —FASREBEAN 476,746 114,778
More than one year but not exceeding —FLEETEBME
two years 16,575 146,525
More than two years but not exceeding WMELLETBRRF
five years - 16,575
493,321 277,878
Less: Amount repayable within one year & : —FAEELIERE
and shown under current liabilities BB ZNE (476,746) (114,778)
Amount due after one year —F & BB RE 16,575 163,100
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27. Borrowings (Continued)
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE
BR (&)
AEEBRZERNE (TFEERE O
R)ZEEWT

2007 2006

Effective interest rate: ERAE -
Variable-rate borrowings FEMER

The bank overdrafts are secured by fixed deposits with banks.
The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is not materially different
from the corresponding carrying amounts at the balance sheet
date. The interest free loan of HK$128,000,000 has a maturity
date on 13th September, 2007. Therefore the carrying value
approximates to the fair value and thus no imputation of interest
expenses is deemed necessary to be adjusted in the consolidated
income statement.

Included in borrowings are the following amount denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the Group to which
they relate:

1.00% to 6.40% 2.75% to 5.00%

RITEXHBTZERFRIEER - B
REH AEBEEHR 2R TFEEERK
BEITEEAEZE - 28 HEHX
128,000,000 TR —EZ+FENA+=
BE® At REEEATFERS
MBERGERERAZEF BT

ERERAREENEEE AN ZEE
ATEZ OIS -

2007 2006

United States Dollars EI

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3R
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

28. Creditors and accrued expenses 28. ENRRRESER
The Company The Group
AAF rEE
(In HK$'000) (BB FTRER) 2007 2006 2007 2006
Amounts payable arising from AEXB ES
the ordinary course of RRHERE
business of dealing in R 5
securities and options: HIA
- Cash clients -REEF - - 37,846 76,832
Amounts payable arising from AE%%2
the ordinary course of HEEH
business of dealing in RHER
futures contracts: HIE
- Clients -BP - - 17,163 19,627
Amounts payable arising from AEEBRHE
the ordinary course of BHEARERE
business of provision of FE
securities margin financing: MIE
- Clients -EP - - 6,536 7,233
Amounts payable arising from AExB 2 RE
the ordinary course of BELBEEREM
business of dealing in bullion ;A - - 10,805 =
Escrow money received REES - - 7,653 25,231
Accruals and other payables [E B8R R E MR R 627 749 6,688 3,296
Rental and other deposits MEREME KRS
received - - 1,027 558
Rental receipts in advance Bl E - - 39 1
627 749 87,757 132,778
No ageing analysis is disclosed for escrow money received as it REBEGZIRRITERE ARULER
represents deposits paid by third parties to the Group for the DEZEXTAESERELEBRER
purpose of potential investments in certain projects and the balance BNREBRERRZ-ZZEZLF=A=
at 31st March, 2007 is non-interest bearing. T-BZRBABESINFE -
The settlement term of cash client payables is two days after the ReBEPENRBERRZBAMAEE
trade date. Other payables are repayable on demand. The age of Bo HthENRBEEERBANER - %4
these balances is within 30 days. BZIRRAE=ZTHR °
U 2w E F&LI,XI%E? ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE

29. RBABEALFTE

The Company The Group
b NN RE

(In HK$’000) (LB FrrREl) 2007 2006 2007 2006
Amounts due to related parties: JE 1 B # A T 508 ¢

- Ultimate holding company —RRER AR - - - 256

- Related companies —BERT - - 57,941 57,953

- A director —E=% 7 7 23,580 52,886

— A subsidiary’s director -MBRARES - - 538 538

7 7 82,059 111,633

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and

have no fixed terms of repayment.

30. Share capital

ENBEALTZREREEM  BAX
NHMERARBFNER -

30. R=E

Number of shares Share capital

B8 E [N
2007 2006 2007 2006
’000 ‘000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T8 FERT F&T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each B E{H0.0178 T 2
TEK
Authorised: ETE -
At the beginning and the FMRERE
end of the year 3,000,000 3,000,000 30,000 30,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETREE
At the beginning of the year ~ F# & 1,253,122 1,228,754 12,531 12,288
Issue of shares BT M 21,301 24,368 213 243
At the end of the year FRE 1,274,423 1,253,122 12,744 12,531

During the year, 21,301,300 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the Company were issued at HK$1.346 per share as scrip
dividends. A premium arising therefrom of approximately
HK$28,459,000 was credited to the share premium account.

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3R
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31.

32.

Reserves 31. B
Share  Contributed Retained

premium surplus profits Total
(In HK$°000) (UBEFTAREN) R 5 E EMRE REBEF mst
The Group rEE
Balance as at 1st April, 2005 \—ESHFNA—HER 205,936 8,515 141,475 355,926
Issue of shares IR 24,368 - - 24,368
Profit for the year AEERH - - 155,296 155,296
Proposed final dividend BERERSARE - - (35,087) (35,087)
Balance as at 31st March, 2006 R=ZZ F=A=+—H##%H 230,304 8,515 261,684 500,503
Issue of shares BIRM 28,459 - - 28,459
Profit for the year AEE R = = 213,603 213,603
Proposed final dividend BRERERE - - (40,782) (40,782)
Balance as at 31st March, 2007 R -ZEE+E=A=+—H&#% 258,763 8,515 434,505 701,783
The Company NN
Balance as at 1st April, 2005 RZ_ZLZHFMNA—HE#H# 202,611 8,515 1,599 212,725
Issue of shares EGL) 24,368 - - 24,368
Profit for the year AEERH - - 34,095 34,095
Proposed final dividend BRERSARE - - (35,087) (35,087)
Balance as at 31st March, 2006 RZ22XE=A=1+—H&# 226,979 8,515 607 236,101
Issue of shares BIRM 28,459 - - 28,459
Profit for the year AEE T = = 40,993 40,993
Proposed final dividend BRERERE - - (40,782) (40,782)
Balance as at 31st March, 2007 R-ZEZ+F=A=+—HE% 255,438 8,515 818 264,771
Operating lease arrangements 32. ReHERH
The Group as lessee EEAAAA

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms for
one (2006: one to three) year.

At 31st March, 2007, the Group had entered into the following
future minimum lease payments in respect of land and buildings
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

AEERBELEEREEALETY
% ETYEREERA—E(ZTT

NE:—E=F) -

RZZZLF=A=+—H F5ER
BIAARELHRBFTREHET 2R

ReBERESHSDOT -
The Group
RE
(In HK$’000) (LB FrrREfs) 2007 2006
Within one year —FR" 430 429
In the second to fifth years, inclusive RE_FZERFIZA - 7
430 436
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32. Operating lease arrangements (Continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group leases certain properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated for terms

ranging from one to twenty (2006: one to five) years.

At 31st March, 2007, the Group has total future minimum lease
rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as

follows:

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-_ZTTZ+F=—A=+T—HLFE
32. KeEHEZRH ()
SEAREA
AEERBREHETHEBEETY
X -BZEZWEEEFHENT—E=+
F(ZTERF: —ERF) o

RZZEE+F=A=1+—H £KEER
BRI R EEAE T 2 R RHIEER
HE&mT :

The Group
~EH
(In HK$’000) (BB TFTREN) 2007 2006
Within one year —F R 4,757 2,980
In the second to fifth years, inclusive REZFEERFIA 10,767 3,994
More than five years HBBREF 21,558 -
37,082 6,974

33. Connected and related party transactions

During the year, the Group had the following material transactions

33. BEKBEBEALRZ
RAEE AREQREBEEANLET

with its related parties: UTZERRS :
Name of related party Nature of transactions Notes
2N REME
(In HK$’000) (LB TFTRERN) i3 2007 2006
UBA Investments Limited (“UBA”) Investment management fee (a) 1,878 1,445
RAREBERAR (RAKRE]) KREERE
Brokerage commission fee (b) 996 274
rEme
Margin financing interest (c) 826 295
FREENES
Bullion dealing interest (d) 41 -
BEREBEMNE
Town Bright Industries Limited Rental expenses and
management fee (e) 736 736
REEZERRAA HekEREBIH
Upbest Properties Company Referral expenses and
Limited rental expenses (f) 84 84
ERMEARDA NMRRAXREEMAX
Champion Assets Limited Rental expenses (9) 120 101
Mekx
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For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

33.

Connected and related party transactions (Continued)

a)

A subsidiary of the Company, an investment manager, has
entered into investment management agreements with UBA
for a period of three years commencing from 1st April,
2008. This agreement can be terminated by either the
investment manager or UBA serving not less than six
months’ notice in writing prior to the expiration of the three
years period. Pursuant to this agreement, monthly
investment management fee is receivable at 1.5% per
annum of the consolidated net asset value of UBA as at
the immediately preceding valuation date on the basis of
the actual number of days in the relevant calendar month
over 365 days a year. This agreement expired on 31st
March, 2006 and a supplemental agreement has been
entered to extend for a period of three years commencing
from 1st April, 2006.

Brokerage commission fee income is charged at 0.25%
(2006: 0.25%), the prevailing market rate, on the value of
the transactions.

Interest income for margin account was charged at a range
from 12.25% to 12.50% (2006: 9.5% to 12.5%) per annum.

Securities owned by UBA Investments Limited that is kept
in the securities margin accounts of a subsidiary of the
Company were pledged for securing general banking
facilities granted to that subsidiary.

Buillion dealing interest has charged at 6.5% (2006: Nil)
per annum.

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Town Bright Industries Limited for one year,
commencing from 1st August, 2005. The tenancy
agreement was renewed for one year, commencing from
1st August 2006. Details of the leasing commitment are
stated in note (32). The transactions were carried out at
an amount agreed by both parties. Mr. Cheng Kai Ming,
Charles, a director of the Company, has beneficial interests
in Town Bright Industries Limited.

A subsidiary of the Company has entered into a tenancy
agreement with Upbest Properties Company Limited for
three years, commencing from 1st May, 2004. Details of
the leasing commitment are stated in note (32). The
transactions were carried out at an amount agreed by both
parties. Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, a director of the
Company, has beneficial interest in Upbest Properties
Company Limited.

33.

BERBBHATIRE (&)

a)

RARIZHBAR (BRELHE)
HEAPRERITRETE R
H-_SE=FNA—HBHEAH=
Fo —FHREMA - RELHE
Sl FRR IR E Al A AT DA S {8 A
EEBMERRFZIHE - BE
2 REKES B A RFEH
BRERH E—EAREBZGA]
EFEI1L% FEREBERE
BE RIS E3650 v HEW
BREEEE - iR ERN_Z
ERNE=A=1+—HB3H 12
RN — RS BEHTE
ER-_ZETAFENA B =
¢ o

BERELBRBATNERSEE
20.25%(ZZEZXNF : 0.25%)
HE AMBERERZEN
b o

FEFOMBMATNRE X
12.25% % 12.50% (Z BT <& ¢
9.5% % 12.5%) W BN »

FARERR QA M FHRR
ARE—RMBRRIEFFRK
P2 E#EBRERE T XM B
AR —RETHEZERM®

EeBEMXRIEFRE5%(ZF
TREFE) -

ARAIMBAREFREEXER
ARV HEERZE H=—FThH
FNA-BERHE—F - HEWH
BCBE-F m_TTRFN
A—Bi - BEAHZHBER
EE(32) - AR BIARIAK T
BELCHEET - ARAEFY
HMAXERFAREEXZER DA
AEmEn -

ARARIMBAREXZMERR
NRIFIYHEEHE  A-FTN
FRA—RE SHB=F -HE
AR L RIBENKIFE(32) - AR
RPUFTNE T AT RE
7 AABEZHRMALENE
BUHEERATNFEAED ES
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33. Connected and related party transactions (Continued)

9)

Two subsidiaries of the Company have entered into tenancy
agreements with Champion Assets Limited for one year,
commencing from 1st January, 2006 and 1st March, 2006
respectively. The tenancy agreement was renewed for one
year, commencing from 1st January, 2007 and 1st March,
2007. Details of the leasing commitment are stated in note
(32). Mr. Cheng Kai Ming, Charles, a director of the
Company, has beneficial interest in Champion Assets
Limited.

CCAA Group Limited, an investment holding company,
holds approximately 70.28% interest in the Company. Fung
Fai Growth Limited, an investment holding company, holds
approximately 32.08% of UBA Investments Limited. The
ultimate beneficial owner of Fung Fai Growth Limited and
CCAA Group Limited is Cheng’s Family Trust.

Details of the balances with ultimate holding company,
subsidiaries, associates, related companies, directors and
subsidiaries’ directors are fully disclosed in notes (16), (17),
(24) and (29).

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year were disclosed in note (8).

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3R

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE

33. BEKBEBALHKE (&)

g

)

ARAMEKNERA R
Champion Assets Limited] 32
HEWZ  PRBE=ZZT<—HA
—HRERZZEZERF=H—H
B RE—F HERREER
—F H_ZET+F-H-BHE
RZTE+F=-F—HK- - HE
A LA BEH N 32) e KA
5] E % Z0 R AR 5% 4 7 Champion
Assets Limited# A B m = ©

% & A AICCAA Group
Limited%5 B AN A 7] 4970.28% 1
@ o WEER A A Fung Fai
Growth Limited#5 6 R E R
PR~ F]4932.08%# % © Fung Fai
Growth Limited & CCAA Group
Limited &R BHEEARER
RIRIEHE

RRERRAR - HBAR - B
AR BERE  BEERNEBA
AEEvHEBFRBRERME
(16) * (17) * (24) R (29)H & -

ESRIREEEHMKERF
A2 & B MR (8) I EE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
HE-ZTZ+F=—A=1T—HLFE

34.

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 27th March, 2007, the Group acquired 70% of the issued
share capital of Phantasy Development Limited for a consideration
of HK$424,323. This acquisition has been accounted for using
the purchase method.

The net assets acquired and the gain arising from the acquisition
are as follows:

34.

NN
R-ZZEE+E=A=-++H KEE
424,323 L2 REBEWESINZERER A
BIER AR Z70%E 1T o 1t U iE
IABE B AR o

GREEEBAZFEERMEEZ S
FlwmT :

Acquiree’s
carrying amount
HHRELR
(In HK$’000) (KBS TFTREN) iR &
Net assets acquired BAZEFEE:
Property under development BREYE 12,000
Utility deposit NGES 3% 16
Bank balances BT 615
Amount due to holding company JE - P2 BR 1 A (10,576)
Net assets EEEE 2,055
Total consideration, satisfied by cash URET M2 BRE 424
Excess of net fair value over consideration %4 W # &K 2 HER
recognised in the consolidated income NEFEERRE
statement 2 81 1,631
Net cash inflow on acquisition: WHEEZERESTRAFE
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTEKBERS 615
Cash consideration paid BENBEeRE (424)
191

The aggregate revenue and the profit for the whole year of the
acquired subsidiary as though the acquisition was effected at the
beginning of the year ended 31st March, 2007 are as follows:

BWEMBLRAINEF 2 WE REME
BT BMUEFHEERNEE_ZT
tFEZA=T-HUEFENEEER :

For the year ended
31st March, 2007

BE-ZZELHE
(In HK$’000) (BB TFTARENRN) ZR=t-HLEFE
Total revenue Wi B 5E 8,004
Profit for the year F R 8,004

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2007
BE_ZZTtF=ZA=+—HLEE

35. Disposal of a subsidiary 5. HEKEBLF
(In HK$'000) (KEEFTREN) 2007 2006
Share of net assets disposed of: [EEHEEEFE
Properties held for development BIERRWE - 17,600
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMNBABMESEZ & F - 18,100
Proceeds on disposal HEZEHRE - 35,700
Satisfied by: X%
Cash Re - 35,700
Analysis of the net inflow of cash and TERBARZEAS
cash equivalents in respect of the kBez2EEBM2ZRA
disposal of a subsidiary: SFRAMN
Cash consideration received BEEeRE - 35,700
36. Contingent liabilities 36. HWAREE
(In HK$'000) (KEEFTRENL) 2007 2006
Guarantees given to a bank BEWBAQA 368,100 336,900
in respect of banking facilities BT IRITER
granted to subsidiaries BB RTEE

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in respect
of these guarantees as its fair value cannot be reliably measured
and its transaction price was HK$ Nil (2006: HK$ Nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 # 3R
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SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES

(1)

2

Investment properties as at 31st March, 2007

(1)

RZEELFE=ZA=+-HzREN%E

Approximate

Percentage of the

Description Use gross floor area Status Group’s interest
KEBAG
L ES=3 Az BMOBELEE AR BREIL
(square feet)
(FHR) %
Macau Commercial 105,000 Rental 100
MR P 7 A apic|

51 Various car parking spaces and
the whole of the ground floor and
1st Floor of Chino Plaza, located
in Baia Sul Do Bairro Fai Chi Kei,
Lote PS2 Macau

I RFI R T R EEPS2AHER 2
EMES - BRESMEEM -

TR E2E

Properties held for development as at 31st
March, 2007

)

R-ZZLF=ZA=1T-RAZBFERENF

Stage of
Percentage development
of the Estimated as at
Approximate Group’s completion 31st March,
Description Use site area interest date 2007
rE R-ZEELEF
BMORE Frib R st =A=+-H
L EE= 3 k= HEE Bok 5T A B 5 ZERBER
(square feet)
(FFR) %
(a) Macau Residential/ 5,371 60 N/A Vacant land
BT Commercial ~EA TETH
F=E/%
1 piece of land at
Avenida Do Almirante
Lacerda, Sto. Antonio Macau
fIRRPI IR L RIRE
RERZ—ELH
(b) Macau Residential/ 7,198 100 N/A A two-storey
B P Commercial i A restaurant is
FE/BE erected thereon
1 piece of land at RE—EWE
Nossa Senhora Do Camo, SREEEY
Taipa, Macau BEY
UREMKFREZR
HE 2 — 1B
(c) Hong Kong Residential 38,200 70 N/A Vacant land
& = iEH ZE T

1 piece of land at

Tai Po Declaimation
District Number 29
IR & K29

ANNUAL REPORT 2007 % 3R
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